
www.eden.gov.uk
Mrs Rose Rouse
Chief Executive

Date: 27 February 2019

Town Hall, Penrith, Cumbria CA11 7QF
Tel: 01768 817817
Email: cttee.admin@eden.gov.uk

Dear Sir/Madam

Council Agenda - 7 March 2019
Notice is hereby given and you are hereby summoned to attend a meeting of the Council 
to be held at 6.45 pm on Thursday, 7 March 2019 at the Council Chamber, Town Hall, 
Penrith.

1  Apologies for Absence  

2  Declarations of Interest  

To receive declarations of the existence and nature of any private interests, both 
disclosable pecuniary and any other registrable interests, in any matter to be 
considered or being considered.

3  Minutes  

RECOMMENDATIONS that:
1. the public minutes Cl/73/02/19 to Cl/87/02/19; and

2. the confidential minutes Cl/87/02/19 
of the meeting of Council held on 14 February 2019 be confirmed and signed by the 
Chairman as a correct record of those proceedings (copies previously circulated).

4  Chairman's Announcements  

5  Questions by the Public  

To receive questions from the public under Rule 10 of the Constitution.

6  Questions by Members  

To receive questions from Members under Rule 12 of the Constitution.

7  Motions on Notice  

To consider motions on notice under Rule 13 of the Constitution



www.eden.gov.uk 2

8  Pay and Pension Discretion Policy Statement (Annual Report) - 
Resources Portfolio Holder  (Pages 5 - 50)

To consider report CE7/19 of the Chief Executive which seeks to enable 
consideration to be given to the attached Pay Policy Statement with a view to 
approving the statement to enable the Council to meet the requirements of the 
Localism Act 2011.

RECOMMENDATION that the attached Pay and Pensions Discretions Policy 
Statement be adopted with effect from 1 April 2019.

9  Cumbria Joint Public Health Strategy - Housing and Health Portfolio 
Holder  (Pages 51 - 88)

To consider report TES19/19 of the Assistant Director Community Services which 
seeks to enable consideration to be given to the Cumbria Joint Public Health 
Strategy: Tackling the Wider Determinants of Health, as a key partner. The Strategy 
describes the shared ambition of Cumbrian partners to help bring about the 
environmental, social and economic conditions that can best support Cumbrian 
residents to enjoy a healthy and happy life.

RECOMMENDATION that the Cumbria Joint Public Health Strategy (Appendix 1) be 
approved.

10  Date of Next Scheduled Meeting  

The next scheduled meeting of Council be confirmed as 11 April 2019.

Yours faithfully

Rose Rouse
Chief Executive

Democratic Services Contact: Claire Watters

Encs

For Attention

All members of the Council

Chairman – Councillor M Robinson (Independent Group)
Vice Chairman – Councillor W Patterson (Independent Group)

Councillors
A Armstrong, Conservative Group
D Banks, Independent Group

E Martin, Conservative Group
A Meadowcroft, Conservative Group



www.eden.gov.uk 3

K Beaty, Conservative Group
P Breen, Conservative Group
I Chambers, Conservative Group
M Clark, Independent Group
A Connell, Liberal Democrat Group
J Derbyshire, Liberal Democrat Group
M Eyles, Liberal Democrat Group
P Godwin, Independent Group
K Greenwood, Independent Group
L Grisedale, Conservative Group
A Hogg, Conservative Group
D Holden, Liberal Democrat Group
S Jackson, Conservative Group
V Kendall, Conservative Group
T C Ladhams, Independent Group
J C Lynch, Conservative Group

G Nicolson OBE, Conservative Group
R Orchard, Conservative Group
J Owen MBE, Conservative Group
J Raine, Conservative Group
M Rudhall, Liberal Democrat Group
H Sawrey-Cookson, Independent Group
R Sealby, Conservative Group
L Sharp, Labour
M Slee, Conservative Group
M Smith, Independent Group
V Taylor, Liberal Democrat Group
M Temple, Conservative Group
J G Thompson, Conservative Group
A Todd, Conservative Group
J Tompkins, Liberal Democrat Group
M Tonkin, Independent Group

Please Note: 
1. Access to the internet in the Council Chamber and Committee room is 

available via the guest wi-fi – no password is required
2. Under the Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014 this 

meeting has been advertised as a public meeting (unless stated otherwise) 



This page is intentionally left blank



Report No:  CE7/19 
Eden District Council 

Council 
7 March 2019 

Pay and Pension Discretions Policy Statement 2019/2020 
Portfolio: Resources 
Report from: Chief Executive 
Wards: All Wards 

OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

1 Purpose 
1.1 To enable consideration to be given to the attached Pay Policy Statement with 

a view to approving the statement to enable the Council to meet the 
requirements of the Localism Act 2011. 

2 Recommendation 
That the attached Pay and Pensions Discretions Policy Statement be adopted 
with effect from 1 April 2019. 

3 Report Details 
3.1 Section 38 (1) of the Localism Act 2011 (“the Act”) requires English and Welsh 

local authorities to produce a pay policy statement for each financial year. 
3.2 The matters that must be included in the statutory pay policy statement are: 

 A local authority’s policy on the level and elements of remuneration for 
each chief officer; 

 A local authority’s policy on the remuneration of its lowest-paid employees 
(together with its definition of “lowest-paid employees” and its reason for 
adopting that definition); 

 A local authority’s policy on the relationship between the remuneration of 
its chief officers and other officers; and 

 A local authority’s policy on other specific aspects of chief officers’ 
remuneration, remuneration on recruitment, increases and additions to 
remuneration, use of performance-related pay and bonuses, termination 
payments, and transparency. 

3.3 The definition of chief officers is not limited to Heads of Paid Service or 
statutory chief officers.  

3.4 As for the process, the pay policy statement:  

 Must be approved formally by the Council meeting itself; 

 Must be approved by the end of March each year; and 

 Can be amended in-year 

Page  5

Agenda Item 8



3.5 The Council must, in performing its functions under the Act, have regard to 
any guidance issued or approved by the Secretary of State. A copy of the 
guidance ‘Openness and accountability in local pay: Guidance under section 
40 of the Localism Act’ can be found on the Gov.uk website 
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/openness-and-accountability-in-
local-pay-guidance  

3.6 The functions conferred on the Council by this part of the Act are not to be 
the responsibility of an Executive.  

3.7 Any determinations which are made in relation to the remuneration of or 
other terms and conditions applying to a chief officer of the Council must 
comply with its pay policy statement for the financial year concerned. 

3.8 As soon as is reasonably practicable after approving or amending a pay 
policy statement, the authority must publish the statement or the amended 
statement in such manner as it thinks fit (including publication on the 
website). 

3.9 The attached policy statement (Appendix A) draws information from the 
Council’s existing pay and reward related policies and practices and 
provides the additional information required to meet the requirements of the  
Act. The significant changes that are recommended are as follows: 

 Section 2.2.3 is updated to reflect the changes to senior management 
job titles and the posts which now hold the statutory functions of Chief 
Finance Officer and Monitoring Officer under the new structure which 
came into effect on 15 February 2019. 

 Section 3.2.6 uses the Chief Executive’s salary (as the highest paid 
employee) for the pay ratios. 

 Section 4.1 shows the remuneration package for the current Chief 
Executive. 

 Section 4.2.1.3 shows the amended salary levels for the senior 
management posts. 

 Section 4.2.2 shows that supplementary payments are no longer made 
to senior managers for additional duties and responsibilities. 

 Section 4.3.1.4 shows that under the new pay structure from 1 April 
2019, the Council will now have one overlapping grade. 

 Section 5.5.2 shows that Childcare voucher schemes are no longer 
available to new applicants. 

 Section 5.9 shows the revised list of posts which the Council pays 
professional fees for. 

 Section 6 shows that the Council now has two designated training posts. 
3.10 Due to its relevance, the Pensions Discretions Policy Statement is included 

with the Pay Policy statement and the document is titled the Pay and 
Pensions Discretions Policy Statement. 

Page  6

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/openness-and-accountability-in-local-pay-guidance
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/openness-and-accountability-in-local-pay-guidance


4 Policy Framework 
4.1 The Council has four corporate priorities which are: 

 Decent Homes for All; 
 Strong Economy, Rich Environment; 
 Thriving Communities; and 
 Quality Council 

4.2 This report helps to meet the requirements of section 38 (1) of the Localism 
Act 2011 and the requirements of the Local Government Pension Scheme 
Regulations (LGPS) 2013 and LGPS (Transitional Provisions and Savings) 
Regulations 2014. 

5 Consultation 
5.1 The revisions which have been made to the 2019/20 policy are either to reflect 

changes to job titles, the organisational structure, the pay structure (which has 
been consulted on separately), salary levels or external factors so 
consultation has not been carried out. 

6 Implications 
6.1 Financial and Resources 
6.1.1 Any decision to reduce or increase resources or alternatively increase income 

must be made within the context of the Council’s stated priorities, as set out in 
its Council Plan 2015-19 as agreed at Council on 17 September 2015. 

6.1.2 Salary budgets for 2019-2020 were approved by Council 14 February 2019, 
consistent with the provisions of the draft Pay and Pension Discretions Policy 
Statement. 

6.2 Legal 
6.2.1 In accordance with the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 

(LGPS) 2013 and LGPS (Transitional Provisions and Savings) Regulations 
2014, the Council is required to determine and publish a statement of policy in 
relation to its exercise of certain discretionary functions available under the 
LGPS regulations, and to review this on an annual basis. 

6.3 Human Resources 
6.3.1 The Council wishes to ensure that a policy is in place so as it has clear and 

precise guidelines on how the pay of its employees is determined to ensure 
fairness and transparency for all. 

6.4 Statutory Considerations 

Consideration: Details of any implications and proposed 
measures to address: 

Equality and Diversity The Council’s pay strategy and practices meet 
the requirements of the Equality Act 2010. 

Health, Social 
Environmental and 
Economic Impact 

There are no implications 

Page  7



Crime and Disorder There are no implications in respect to Crime and 
Disorder. 

Children and 
Safeguarding 

There are no implications in respect to children. 

6.5 Risk Management 

Risk Consequence Controls Required 
Not having a Pay and 
Pension Discretions 
Policy Statement would 
be a direct 
contravention of Section 
38 (1) of the Localism 
Act 2011 which requires 
the Council to produce a 
pay policy statement for 
each financial year 

The Council would be in 
breach of the legislation 
which may lead to 
reputational damage 

A pay policy is 
produced annually in 
accordance with the 
legislation 

7 Other Options Considered 
7.1 This report set outs the current position with regard to the Council’s pay and 

pensions discretions policies, so no alternative option is recommended.  

8 Reasons for the Decision/Recommendation 
8.1 To meet the requirements under section 38 to 43 of the Localism Act 2011 

which requires English and Welsh local authorities to produce a pay policy 
statement for each financial year. 

8.2 To meet the requirements of the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) 
Regulations 2013 and LGPS (Transitional Provisions and Savings) 
Regulations 2014 which requires each employer to formulate, publish and 
keep under review a policy statement in relation to the exercise of a number of 
discretions under the LGPS. 

Tracking Information 

Governance Check Date Considered 
Chief Finance Officer (or Deputy) 15 February 2019 
Monitoring Officer (or Deputy) 20 February 2019 
Relevant Assistant Director 7 February 2019 

Background Papers: Not applicable 
Appendices: Appendix A – Draft Pay and Pension Discretions 

Policy Statement 2019/20 
Contact Officer: Linzi Gate, Principal Humans Resources Advisor 

Page  8



  

1 

 

Pay and Pension Discretions 
Policy Statement 
2018/2019/2020

Page  9



  

2 

 

Contents 
1. Background     5 
2. Definitions and Interpretations     5 

2.1 IR35 Tax Regulations: Employee or Worker?............................................  5 
2.2 Chief Officer     5 
2.3 Terms and Conditions     6 
2.4 Remuneration     6 
2.5 Lowest Paid Employees     6 
2.6 Financial Year     6 
2.7 Mean/Median Average Salary     6 
2.8 Day’s Pay     6 

3. Decision Making     7 
3.1 Information     7 
3.2 Relationship between the Remuneration of Chief Officers and     7 

Employees  
3.3 Recruitment     8 
3.4 Relocation Allowance     8 

4. Terms and Conditions     9 
4.1 Terms and Conditions of Chief Executive     9 
4.2 Terms and Conditions of Chief Officers     9 

4.2.1 Setting of Remuneration Levels     9 
4.2.2 Additional Duties     9 

4.3 Terms and Conditions of Employees     109 
4.3.1 Setting of Remuneration Levels     10 
4.3.2 Pay Award   110 
4.3.3 Change of Grade   11 
4.3.4 Pay Protection   11 

5. Other Pay Elements   11 
5.1 Overtime   121 
5.2 Car User Allowance   121 
5.3 Pension   121 
5.4 Bonus Scheme  12 
5.5 Child Care Vouchers   12 
5.6 Recognition Payments   12 

5.6.1 Honoraria   12 
5.6.2 Acting Up   132 

5.7 Market Factor Supplements   132 
5.8 Telephone Allowance   132 
5.9 Personal Professional Fees   13 
5.10 Emergency Client Team   13 
5.11 First Aid   143 

Page  10



  

3 

 

5.12 Committee Allowance   143 
5.13 Personal Accident Insurance   143 

6. Training Posts   143 
7. Flexible Retirement   143 
8. Leaving the Authority - Severance   14 
9. Re-engagement of Former Employees   154 
10. Publication   15 

Annex 1 – Grading Structure   16 

Annex 2 - Relocation Policy   17 
1. Policy Statement   17 
2. Scope   17 
3. Removal Allowance   17 
4. Disturbance Allowance   17 
5. Conditions of Payment   18 
6. Completed Service Amount to be Repaid   18 
7. Tax and National Insurance Liability   18 
8. Maximum Claim   18 

Annex 3 - Salary Protection Arrangements in the Event of   
Re-grading or Re-deployment  19 
1. Purpose   19 
2. Application   19 
3. Protection Arrangements   19 
4. Calculation of Protected Salary   20 
5. Interpretation   20 
6. Duration of the Salary Protection Arrangements   210 
7. Additional Option Available During Implementation of Job Evaluation   21 

Annex 4 - Local Government Pension Scheme Employer Discretions –        
Statement of Policy          22 
Part A – Mandatory policy statements: 
Power of Scheme Employer to Award Additional Pension      23 
Power of Scheme Employer to Contribute towards the Cost of a Member Purchasing 
Additional Pension            24 
Flexible Retirement            25 
Early Retirement and Waiving Actuarial Reductions       26 
Power of Scheme Employer to Award Additional Membership    27 
Early Release of Deferred Benefits with Employer Consent      28 
Scheme Members who Ceased Active Membership after 1 April 1998 and Before  
1 April 2008            29 
 
Scheme Members who Ceased Active Membership before 1 April 1998   30 

Page  11



  

4 

 

Part B – Formulation of policy in accordance with further discretions under the Local 
Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013: 
Shared Cost Additional Voluntary Contributions      31 
Late Transfer Requests          32 
Contributions Payable by Active Members       33 
Assumed Pensionable Pay          34 
Part C – Mandatory policy statements: 
Redundancy and Compensation Payments       35 
Redundancy and Compensatory Added Years Payments     376 
Injury Allowance Payments         387 
Appendix A – If voluntarily retiring        39 

Page  12



  

5 

 

1. Background 
1.1 The Council is required by section 38(1) of the Localism Act 2011, to prepare a 

Pay policy statement. The statement must articulate the policies towards a range 
of issues relating to the pay of the workforce, particularly its senior staff (or ‘Chief 
Officers’) and its lowest paid employees. Pay policy statements must be prepared 
for each financial year. The Pay policy statement must be approved by Full 
Council. 

1.2 This Pay policy statement has regard to the guidance issued by the Secretary of 
State.  At the time of writing the relevant guidance is titled ‘Openness and 
accountability in local pay: Guidance under section 40 of the Localism Act’. 

1.3 This policy statement draws information from the Council’s existing pay and 
reward related policies and practices and provides the additional information 
required to meet the requirements of the Localism Act. 

1.4 An aim of the Pay policy is to attract, retain and motivate staff so that the 
organisation can perform at its best. In the context of managing scarce public 
resources, remuneration at all levels needs to be adequate to secure and retain 
high-quality employees dedicated to the service of the public.  At the same time 
remuneration needs to avoid being unnecessarily generous or otherwise 
excessive. 

2. Definitions and Interpretations 
2.1 IR35 Tax Regulations: Employee or Worker? 

Guidance should be sought from the Assistant Director Financial 
ServicesFinance before any engagement (other than direct employment) may be 
approved. The Council will, at all times, meet the requirements of IR35 tax 
legislation. When deciding if IR35 rules apply to a contract or engagement, it is 
important to establish what the underlying relationship (the employment status) is 
between the Council and the worker. The best approach is to work out what the 
relationship would be if there was no intermediary involved (such as a Limited 
Company). The facts of each contract or engagement will decide if IR35 applies 
and not any label, description, or job title. Consideration must be given again to 
the status as soon as circumstances may change. Different legislation may apply 
if services to the Council are provided through a third party agency or Managed 
Service Company. In these circumstances agency legislation may apply rather 
IR35 regulations. 

2.2 Chief Officer 
2.2.1 Under the Localism Act the definition of a Chief Officer (as set out in Section 

43(2)) is not limited to the Head of Paid Service or the statutory Chief Officers. It 
also includes those who report directly to them (non-statutory Chief Officers) and 
to their direct reports (Deputy Chief Officers). 

2.2.2 For the purposes of this policy statement, the “Chief Executive” in relation to this 
Council is the person who is also the Head of Paid Service. 

2.2.3 For the purposes of this policy Statement a “Chief Officer”, in relation to this 
authority means each of the following: 

Page  13



  

6 

 

a) its Directors  
b) its Monitoring Officer (the the Deputy Chief ExecutiveAssistant Director 

Governance) 
bc) its Chief Finance Officer (the Director of FinanceAssistant Director Finance),  
cd) its Deputy and Assistant Directors and Heads of Service (non-statutory Chief 
Officers); and 
ed) its Senior Legal Adviser. 

2.2.4 For clarity everyone who reports directly to a Chief Officer (and is designated as 
a deputy Chief Officer under section 2(8) of the Local Government and Housing 
Act 1989) is not a Chief Officer for the purposes of this statement. 

2.3 Terms and Conditions 
In this Policy statement “terms and conditions” means the terms and conditions 
on which the person holds office under, or is employed by the Council. 

2.4 Remuneration 
References in this statement to the remuneration of, or the other terms and 
conditions applying to, a Chief Officer or employee include: 

a) The remuneration that may be provided to, or the terms and conditions that 
may apply in the future, and 

b) The remuneration that is to be provided to, or the terms and conditions that 
are to apply to future appointments. 

2.5 Lowest paid employees 
The definition of “lowest-paid employees” adopted by the authority for the 
purposes of this policy statement is those employees on the lowest pay point in 
use by the Council. Taking account of the increase in the National Living Wage 
on 1 April 2018changes to the pay structure on 1 April 2019, the lowest pay point 
in the authority will equate to a minimum of £7.839.00 per hour. The reason for 
adopting this definition is that it is the simplest and most easily understood 
definition. 

2.6 Financial Year 
“Financial year” means the period of 12 months ending with 31 March in any 
year. 

2.7 Mean/Median Average Salary 
2.7.1 The median average salary is determined by ordering all employee salaries from 

highest to lowest (or lowest to highest) and identifying which salary falls at the 
mid-point of the range. 

2.7.2 The mean average salary is defined as the total estimated salaries payable in 
2018/20192019/2020 for the full permanent establishment divided by the full time 
equivalent (FTE) of the full establishment. 

Page  14



  

7 

 

2.8 Day’s Pay 
The calculation used to determine ‘A Day’s Pay’ is 1/261 and is based on an 
Actual Working Day which is as follows: 365 days minus 104 weekend days. This 
method of calculation is used where there is any other deduction for days not 
worked eg unpaid leave. 

Page  15



  

8 

 

Statement 
3. Decision Making 

Chief Officers shall have authority to operate and administer the Council’s Pay 
and Pension Discretions Policy. Any departure from the policy will be referred to 
the Head of Paid Service for consideration except when in relation to Chief 
Officers, when the decision must be taken by Council. Where appropriate the 
recognised trade union, UNISON will be consulted. 

The Head of Paid Service is responsible for the employed staff. The Head of Paid 
Service can operate in accordance with existing employment policies and 
procedures, and existing frameworks such as budgets and changes to the 
establishment. 

3.1 Information 
3.1.1 Information regarding the salary levels and degrees of responsibility exercised by 

the Chief Executive and Chief Officers in return for their remuneration is 
published on the Council’s website under ‘Your Council’, ‘Organisational 
Structure’ https://www.eden.gov.uk/your-council/jobs/working-for-the-
council/organisational-structure/  

3.1.2 The information contained in this statement is correct at the time of approval by 
Full Council. Any changes implemented through national negotiation or change in 
Government policy will be reflected in the following annual statement unless 
reviewed sooner. 

3.2 Relationship between the remuneration of Chief Officers Officers and 
employees 

3.2.1 The current Chief Executive is remunerated under a contract for services and is 
engaged for a set number of days per year. The current Chief Executive is not an 
employee. The Chief Executive holds the office as the Head of Paid Service. 

3.2.2 At the time of review by Council on 8 March 2018 the Council’s Chief Executive 
had tendered his resignation to take effect from 31 May 2018. A meeting of Full 
Council on 15 February 2018 approved that the post of Chief Executive be 
recruited to on a full-time basis, with a salary range of £105,000 to £115,000 per 
annum and that the successful candidate be an employee of the Council in 
accordance with the National Joint Council (NJC) Chief Executive Terms and 
Conditions of employment. 

3.2.3 This statement will be reviewed during the month after the appointment to the 
new Chief Executive post has been made to reflect the changes to the pay 
multiples shown in section 3.2.9.  

3.2.41 All employees are covered by the National Joint Council Agreement on Pay and 
Conditions of Service except for Chief Officers who are covered by a separate 
National Joint Council Agreement for Chief Officers of Local Authorities. 

3.2.52 Salary levels for employees other than Chief Officers are determined by 
reference to the Council’s Job Evaluation Scheme. The scheme was designed 
and is implemented in partnership with the Council’s recognised trade union, 
UNISON. Salaries for Chief Officers are set by Council after consideration of an 

Page  16

https://www.eden.gov.uk/your-council/jobs/working-for-the-council/organisational-structure/
https://www.eden.gov.uk/your-council/jobs/working-for-the-council/organisational-structure/


  

9 

 

independent review which is periodically and upon request undertaken by or in 
conjunction with North West Employers Organisation. 

3.2.63 There is no separate provision for Chief Officers in relation to the Council’s 
general employment policies and statements. Arrangements for Chief Officers are 
dealt with in accordance with the Council’s ordinary policies. 

3.2.74 Any consideration of Overtime, Honoraria, ‘Acting up’ or Market Factor 
Supplement arrangements for Chief Officers must be undertaken by Full Council. 

3.2.85 Chief Officers do not receive benefits-in-kind separate to or in addition to those to 
which an employee may be entitled. 

3.2.96 The pay multiple between the median average salary at the Council 
(£22,65823,836) and the highest paid employee (Chief OfficerExecutive) is 1: 
3.14.5 The pay multiple between the mean (average) salary at the Council 
£25,44227,312 and the highest paid employee (Chief OfficerExecutive) is 1: 2.84. 
The pay multiple between the “lowest paid employee” (£15,61318,065) and the 
highest paid employee (Chief OfficerExecutive) is 1:4.56. The highest paid Chief 
Officeremployee (Deputy Chief Executive) receives £70,459109,242 inclusive of 
applicable supplements. Please see sections 3.2.2 and 3.2.3 in respect of 
anticipated changes to these calculations.per annum. 

3.2.107 The salary for all employees including Chief Officers is determined by 
reference to this policy statement. The Council will have regard to the pay 
multiple in consideration of remuneration of Chief Officers and staff. 

3.3 Recruitment 
The level of remuneration of Chief Officers and employees is determined in 
accordance with this policy statement. 

3.4 Relocation Allowance 
The Council operates a relocation allowance recruitment incentive scheme. This 
scheme applies, except where otherwise approved by the Council in writing. The 
application of the relocation arrangements shall be in accordance with the details 
of the scheme set out in Annex 2. 

Page  17



  

10 

 

4. Terms and Conditions 
4.1 Terms and conditions of Chief Executive 

Until 31 May 2018 the Chief Executive is remunerated under a contract for 
services and is engaged for a set number of days per year. Expenses are 
claimed according to the Council’s usual policies for employees. The 
remuneration package for the Chief Executive was approved by Council on 29 
September 2011 and updated at its meeting of 14 July 2016, 9 March 2017 and 
11 January 2018. The current anticipated sumsalary for 2018/2019/2020 is based 
on the rate of £86,100 per annum (this being the current contract rate of 
£84,412£109,242 per annum plus which includes the agreed 2% estimated pay 
award for the Chief Officer spay award). The Council also pays an amount for 
Employer’s National Insurance contributions as required as a result of the 
introduction of HRMC IR35 regulations. This brings the total rate to £96,820 per 
annum. See also paragraph 3.2.2 for details of Chief Executive pay after 31 May 
2018.  

4.2 Terms and conditions of Chief Officers 
Terms and conditions of employment are in accordance with collective 
agreements negotiated from time to time by the Joint National Council for Chief 
Officers of Local Authorities, set out in the Scheme of Conditions of Service and 
the North Western Provincial Council as supplemented by local collective 
agreements reached with UNISON and by the rules of the Council. 

4.2.1 Setting of Remuneration Levels 

4.2.1.1Salary for Chief Officers is set by a process of independent review. An 
independent review process would usually be conducted via an independent 
review panel comprising of Members and any relevant and appropriate Officers. 
The review is undertaken with reference to comparable pay in the North West 
region. The independent review panel would make recommendation to Council 
on the appropriate level of salary or salary band to be set for Chief Officer Posts. 

4.2.1.2If a salary band is in place, the salary point on which a Chief Officer is appointed 
or accelerated is the decision of the Head of Paid Service and will be within the 
range of scale points allocated to Chief Officer grades.  

4.2.1.3The base salary for a Deputy / Assistant Director post is £71,400, the salary for 
an Assistant Director post is £51,000 and the salary for a Head of Service post is 
£45,900. set at 62% of Chief Officer Spinal Column Point  105 (spot grade). In 
addition a supplementary payment may be made for additional duties.  

4.2.2 Additional Duties 

4.2.2.1 The role of deputising for the Chief Executive in his absence is paid as a 5% 
uplift to remunerate for the extra responsibilities of this role. This role is currently 
undertaken by the Deputy Chief Executive. 

4.2.2.21 No separate payment is made to the Returning Officer for Local Election fees 
(District and Parish elections). Returning Officer fees for non-local elections are 
set by legislation prior to the election within Fees and Charges Orders. Deputy 
Returning Officer fees (County elections) are payable by the County Council and 
the fees are set every 4 years by the County Council. 

Page  18



  

11 

 

4.2.2.3 A supplementary payment of 5% may be made to a Deputy or Assistant Director 
where the director is allocated responsibilities by the Head of Paid Service in 
each of the following areas;  

 Constitution: named responsibility for statutory requirements as set out 
within the Council’s constitution.  Currently, the post of Deputy Director 
Technical Services has delegation for Town and Country Planning and 
Development Control matters. The post of Deputy Director Environmental 
Services has delegation for Environmental and Health and Safety functions. 

 People: Chief Officer related responsibilities for employee related policy and 
procedure decisions;  

 Management Team: responsibilities associated with forming part of the 
regular core Management team. 

 
4.2.2.42 Information regarding the salary levels and degrees of responsibility exercised 

by the Chief Executive and Chief Officers in return for their remuneration is 
published on the Council’s website under ‘Your Council’, ‘Organisational 
Structure’ https://www.eden.gov.uk/your-council/jobs/working-for-the-
council/organisational-structure/  

4.3 Terms and Conditions of Employees 
Terms and conditions of employment at the Council for all employees (except 
Chief Officers) and which includes “lowest paid employees” are in accordance 
with collective agreements negotiated from time to time by the National Joint 
Council (NJC) for Local Government Services and the Joint Provincial Council as 
supplemented by local collective agreements reached with trade unions 
recognised by the Council and by the rules of the Council. 

4.3.1 Setting of Remuneration Levels 
4.3.1.1 NJC Key National Provisions part 2 (Green Book) requires that “The pay and 

grading of jobs must be fair and non-discriminatory, complying with equal pay 
legislation and associated Codes of Practice” (5.1). The Green Book also says 
that “The basic pay of each employee will consist of either a point or points on 
the local government pay spine” (5.2). 

4.3.1.2 Organisational consistency in relation to pay for employees is achieved through 
a Job Evaluation scheme. The Council implemented the Local Government 
Single Status Job Evaluation Scheme, which has been developed by the 
National Joint Council for Local Government Services and which was 
implemented at the Council with effect from 1 April 1999. The scheme involves 
UNISON as an equal partner in the process. All posts within the Council have 
been evaluated according to the scheme with the exception of new posts which 
are of a temporary nature and for a duration of less than two years which are 
exempt from Job Evaluation. Once a job has been scored under the Job 
Evaluation scheme, the grade is determined by referring the job score to the 
‘points to grade’ table. A re-evaluation procedure has been adopted for the 
appointing of new posts and for significant changes in the duties of existing 
posts. A revised NJC Job Evaluation scheme was implemented during 2014. 

4.3.1.3 The pay structure is based on the established Spinal Column Points (SCP) with 
groups of points arranged into local Eden grades. The Eden grading structure is 
set out in Annex 1. The extension of the range to 53 is beyond the national 

Page  19

https://www.eden.gov.uk/your-council/jobs/working-for-the-council/organisational-structure/
https://www.eden.gov.uk/your-council/jobs/working-for-the-council/organisational-structure/


  

12 

 

range top of 49. Any collective agreements negotiated from time to time by the 
NJC will apply to the Council’s extended grading structure. Locally determined 
rates will apply for staff aged 16 and 17 years who are not fulfilling the full duties 
of a substantive post. 

4.3.1.4 The Council adopts non-has one overlapping grades which overlaps with 
another (SCP 3 is in both grade B and C). The pay bands vary between 2 and 6 
SCP’s (see Annex 1). with narrow pay bands (generally 3 or 4 SCPs) and is 
designed primarily to recognise development in the role, over time, based on the 
accumulation of experience and knowledge. Incremental progression through 
the grade is based on length of service and is subject to satisfactory reports. 
Increments are applied on 1 April and if at 1 April service in post is less than 6 
months, at 6 months. For employees who are aged below 18 years on 
appointment, incremental progression will occur at age 18. Incremental 
progression is applied to permanent and temporary posts up to the grade 
maximum. The only exception is where a temporary appointment is made on a 
fixed scale point for the duration of the post. 

4.3.1.5 It is the Council’s usual practice to appoint at the bottom of the Grade. Any 
decision to appoint above the bottom of the Grade is subject to approval by the 
relevant Chief Officer taking into account all the circumstances.  

4.3.2 Pay Award 
4.3.2.1 The Council recognises the National Joint Councils (NJC) and pay awards are 

applied as negotiated by these bodies. Any local pay award would require 
approval by Full Council. 

4.3.2.2 Staff in employment on or after the date on which a pay award has been agreed 
will be entitled to any back pay due to 1 April. Staff who have left employment of 
the Council before this date will be entitled to back pay subject to their bank 
details etc being available. 

4.3.3 Change of Grade 
4.3.3.1 Where the new grade for a post has a different SCP upper limit than the existing 

grade then: 

 Postholders who move to a higher grade will either move to the first point of a 
new grade or stay at the existing SCP whichever is higher; and 

 Postholders who move to a lower grade will move to the top of that lower 
grade or the existing SCP whichever is lower. 

4.3.3.2 Thereafter progress up the grade will be in accordance with national conditions. 

4.3.4 Pay Protection 
The Council has agreed arrangements to protect the salary of staff in the event 
of their re-grading or re-deployment. These are set out in Annex 3. Such 
arrangements apply from the effective date for individual changes. 

5. Other Pay Elements 
The Council operates a number of separate schemes of remuneration aimed at 
dealing with very specific situations and which apply to all employees within the 
Council including Chief Officers. 

Page  20



  

13 

 

5.1 Overtime 
5.1.1 For posts up to and including Grade G, overtime by an employee can be 

claimed at enhanced rates, in accordance with National Conditions. 
5.1.2 Overtime carried out by post holders above this grade will only be paid in 

exceptional and defined circumstances, usually as part of a programme of 
planned overtime and at an agreed rate of pay which will not exceed the rates 
detailed in the National Conditions. 

5.1.3 Any programme of planned overtime i.e. anything other than an individual ad 
hoc instance, will be subject to formal approval by the Head of Paid Service. 

5.2 Car User Allowance 
5.2.1 On 5 October 2010 the Council’s Executive approved a recommendation to 

adopt revised criteria for qualifying as an Essential User. The new criteria came 
into effect on 15 October 2010 for new employees and on 1 April 2011 for 
existing employees. Designations for new posts will be taken in accordance with 
the ‘Essential Car User Status Criteria and Guidance’. A comparison to a similar 
post will be made wherever possible and where no such post exists a 
provisional assessment will be made and will be reviewed after one year. 

5.2.2 A review of posts which are eligible to be designated as Essential Users was 
undertaken in late 2015. The next review is scheduled for 2018. 

5.3 Pension 
5.3.1 All employees and Chief Officers are eligible to join the Local Government 

Pension Scheme (LGPS). 

5.3.2 The Council has prepared a written statement of policy in relation to its exercise 
of certain discretionary functions, available under the LGPS regulations. This 
can be found at Annex 4. 

5.4 Bonus Scheme 
 From time to time, the Head of Paid Service may devise a bonus scheme to 

incentivise employees in relation to particular objectives. Such a scheme will 
require the approval of Council and will be published on the Council’s website. 

5.5 Child Care Vouchers 
5.5.1 The Council offers access to a Child Care Voucher scheme by way of salary 

sacrifice which enables savings to tax and national insurance contributions.  

5.5.2 During 2017, the Government announced that fFrom April October 2018, 
childcare voucher schemes will not be openwere closed to new applicants. 
Employees who awere already receiving childcare vouchers at this time will 
bewill be  able to continue to do so providing they meet certain criteria. 

5.6 Recognition payments 
5.6.1 Honoraria 

Officers on or above Grade H when called to work exceptional hours in 
connection with the work of the Council will be considered for the payment of an 
honorarium. All honoraria will be subject to formal approval of Management 

Page  21



  

14 

 

Team and the Head of Paid Service. In the case of Chief Officers it is subject to 
approval by Council. The funding must also be identified. 

5.6.2 Acting up  

When a post is vacant Officers are sometimes asked to ‘act up’. ‘Acting up’ 
involves an Officer undertaking some or all of the duties of a higher graded 
vacant post. Where only some of the duties are undertaken then it may be 
appropriate to consider a payment at the end of the period which reflects the 
percentage of duties covered. Where all of the duties are to be undertaken the 
Head of Paid Service can designate an Officer as working in an ‘acting’ capacity 
except in the case of Chief Officers which is subject to approval by Council. The 
Officer in the acting capacity will be paid on the grade of the post he/she is 
‘acting up’ for, usually at the bottom of the grade. The full funding for any acting 
up arrangement must also be identified. 

5.7 Market factor supplements 
The Job Evaluation Scheme does not include any weighting for market forces. 
Where there is a degree of difficulty in attracting and retaining high-quality 
employees some authorities apply a Market Factor Supplement. In response to 
the economic climate and in recognising the labour market forces at that time, 
the Council through consultation determined that all Market Factor 
Supplements, applied within the Council, would end with effect from 31 March 
2012. The Council does not currently have a Market Factor Supplement 
Scheme. If during the term of this statement it considered that the application of 
a Market Factor Supplement is required, this policy statement would be required 
to be updated to reflect any scheme. Any Market Factor Scheme should be 
consistently applied to any post within the Council including Chief Officers. 

5.8 Telephone allowance 
Officers who are nominated to be available to respond to out of hours incidents 
shall receive an allowance of £8.00 per month towards the cost of providing a 
telephone at their private address upon which they can be contacted. Officers in 
receipt of the allowance include both Chief Officers and nominated employees. 

5.9 Personal Professional Fees 
Professional fees in relation to individual Officers’ membership of professional 
bodies will not be paid. The only exception is with respect to the Solicitors 
Practising Fee which enables solicitors employed by the Council to act as 
solicitors for the Council. The Council currently has threefour posts where these 
fees are paid. These are the posts of Assistant Director Legal 
ServicesGovernance, Senior Solicitor and, the Senior Legal Adviser and the 
Deputy Chief Executive. 

5.10 Emergency Client Team 
The Council operates an out of hour’s emergency service where a duty Officer is 
available to take and direct emergency calls at all times when the offices are 
closed. Each Officer on duty receives a fee of £144.39150.23 per week for their 
week of duty, plus a day in lieu for bank holidays. The fee is increased each 
year in line with the annual pay settlement. 

Page  22



  

15 

 

5.11 First Aid 
Nominated First Aiders are paid an allowance of £8.1649 per month and which 
is paid on a pro-rata basis. The fee is increased each year in line with the 
annual pay settlement. 

5.12 Committee Allowance 
A committee attendance allowance is paid to the Member Services Officer posts 
on a rate per meeting basis in respect of evening work which is undertaken for 
committee meetings. The current allowance is £445.1997 per meeting. The fee 
is increased each year in line with the annual pay settlement. 

5.13 Personal Accident Insurance 
Personal Accident Insurance is provided for all employees including Chief 
Officers. 

6. Training Posts 
The Council has one two specific training posts (Elections Officer and Trainee 
Building Control Surveyorpost). In addition occasions may arise where an 
employee is appointed on the understanding that a training programme needs to 
be completed before the postholder can be paid on the full grade. When filling 
vacancies, Chief Officers and or Member Panels will have the flexibility to 
appoint on a lower scale, subject to the determination of a training plan for the 
post, which will set out the requirements and timescales leading to the 
postholder moving into the designated grade for the post. Such positions shall 
be known as training positions. 

7. Flexible Retirement 
7.1 An employee may seek flexible retirement after he or she has reached the age 

of 55. An employee can continue in his or her job and reduce the hours worked 
or the grade at which he or she is employede and draw pension benefits whilst 
continuing in employment. Flexible retirement can only occur with the Council’s 
consent as the employer. 

7.2 The Council may determine any request for flexible retirement from a Chief 
Officer. 

7.3 At the point at which this Pay Policy Statement comes into effect, 1 April 20189 
it is anticipated that there will be no Chief Officers who receive a salary and a 
pension for doing the same job (reduced from full-time to part-time hours) under 
the flexible retirement scheme. 

8. Leaving the Authority - Severance 
8.1 The following policies cover the Council’s severance arrangements: 

 Voluntary Redundancy Framework and 

 Early Retirement and Redundancy Policy 
http://www.eden.gov.uk/your-council/job-vacancies/employment-policies/  

8.2 There is no separate provision for Chief Officers in relation to the Council’s 
general employment policies and statements. Arrangements for Chief Officers 

Page  23

http://www.eden.gov.uk/your-council/job-vacancies/employment-policies/


  

16 

 

are dealt with in accordance with the Council’s ordinary policies. The policies 
above confirm arrangements relating to requests received for augmentation of 
service, discretionary payments and additional pension. The Council’s approach 
to pension discretions is detailed in the Local Government Pension Scheme 
Employer Discretions Statement of Policy which is attached to this statement at 
Annex 4. 

8.3 Any severance payment which is proposed to be made to any employee which 
is over £100,000 must be considered and approved by full Council. 

9. Re-engagement of Former Employees 
9.1 If for any reason a re-engagement of an employee who has been made 

redundant or one who retired early is contemplated, including temporary (part-
time) work, the Chief Executive as the Head of Paid Service must give 
authorisation prior to any re-engagement taking place. In the case of Chief 
Officers, elected members through Council or the Executive must give 
authorisation prior to any re-engagement taking place. 

9.2 For clarification the Council can confirm that there is one Chief Officer in its 
employ who: 

 Was previously employed by this same authority who left with a severance 
or redundancy payment, and have come back as a Chief Officer; or 

 Was previously employed by the same authority, and have come back as a 
Chief Officer under a contract for services; or 

 Is in receipt of a Local Government Pension Scheme or Fire-fighter 
pension (whether their previous service was with the same authority or 
not). 

10. Publication 
The Council will publish the statement on the Council’s website and will publish 
the statement in accordance with the Code of Recommended Practice for Local 
Authorities on Data Transparency (February 2012). 

Page  24



  

17 

 

Pay Policy Statement 20189/201920 
Annex 1 – Grading Structure (from 1 April 20179) 

GRADE SC
P 

ANNUAL SALARY PER MONTH HOURLY RATE OLD SCP 
   

    A 1 17,364.00 1,447.00 9.00 6/7 
B 2 17,711.00 1,475.92 9.18 8/9 
  3 18,065.00 1,505.42 9.36 10/11 

C 3 18,065.00 1,505.42 9.36 10/11 

  4 18,426.00 1,535.50 9.55 12/13 

D 5 18,795.00 1,566.25 9.74 14/15 
  6 19,171.00 1,597.58 9.94 16/17 
  7 19,554.00 1,629.50 10.14 18 
E 8 19,945.00 1,662.08 10.34 19 
  9 20,344.00 1,695.33 10.54 20 
  10 20,751.00 1,729.25 10.76  
  11 21,166.00 1,763.83 10.97 21 
  12 21,589.00 1,799.08 11.19 22 
  13 22,021.00 1,835.08 11.41  
F 14 22,462.00 1,871.83 11.64 23 
  15 22,911.00 1,909.25 11.88 24 
  16 23,369.00 1,947.42 12.11  
  17 23,836.00 1,986.33 12.35 25 
  18 24,313.00 2,026.08 12.60  
  19 24,799.00 2,066.58 12.85 26 
G 20 25,295.00 2,107.92 13.11 27 

 
21 25,801.00 2,150.08 13.37  

  22 26,317.00 2,193.08 13.64 28 
  23 26,999.00 2,249.92 13.99 29 
H 24 27,905.00 2,325.42 14.46 30 
  25 28,785.00 2,398.75 14.92 31 
  26 29,636.00 2,469.67 15.36 32 
I 27 30,507.00 2,542.25 15.81 33 
  28 31,371.00 2,614.25 16.26 34 
  29 32,029.00 2,669.08 16.60 35 
J 30 32,878.00 2,739.83 17.04 36 
  31 33,799.00 2,816.58 17.52 37 
  32 34,788.00 2,899.00 18.03 38 
K 33 35,934.00 2,994.50 18.63 39 
  34 36,876.00 3,073.00 19.11 40 
  35 37,849.00 3,154.08 19.62 41 
L 36 38,813.00 3,234.42 20.12 42 
  37 39,782.00 3,315.17 20.62 43 
  38 40,760.00 3,396.67 21.13 44 
M 39 41,675.00 3,472.92 21.60 45 
  40 42,683.00 3,556.92 22.12 46 
  41 43,662.00 3,638.50 22.63 47 
N 42 44,632.00 3,719.33 23.13 48 
  43 45,591.00 3,799.25 23.63 49 

  

 
HoS and AD Level 

   The above salary structure is subject to amendment in accordance with National Pay Negotiations 

Grade ScP £ 

Page  25



  

18 

 

B 6  £15,014  
7  £15,115  
8  £15,246  
9  £15,375  
10  £15,613  

C 11  £15,807  
12  £16,123  
13  £16,491  

D 14  £16,781  
15  £17,072  
16  £17,419  
17  £17,772  

E 18  £18,070  
19  £18,746  
20  £19,430  
21  £20,138  

F 22  £20,661  
23  £21,268  
24  £21,962  
25  £22,658  

G 26  £23,398  
27  £24,174  
28  £24,964  

H 29  £25,951  
30  £26,822  
31  £27,668  

I 32  £28,485  
33  £29,323  
34  £30,153  

J 35  £30,785  
36  £31,601  
37  £32,486  

K 38  £33,437  
39  £34,538  
40  £35,444  

L 41  £36,379  
42  £37,306  
43  £38,237  

M 44  £39,177  
45  £40,057  
46  £41,025  

N 47  £41,967  
48  £42,899  
49  £43,821  

O 50 £44,744 
51 £45,667 
52 £46,584 
53 £47,507 

The above salary structure is subject to amendment in accordance with National Pay Negotiations.  

Page  26



  

19 

 

Pay Policy Statement 2018/2019/2020 

Annex 2 - Relocation Policy 
Scheme of Recruitment Incentives available to Newly Appointed Staff 

1. Policy Statement 
It is the Policy of Eden District Council to provide financial assistance towards 
removal and associated expenses where they result from any new member of staff 
(including Chief Executive post holder) needing to move home in order to take up 
employment with the Council. Newly appointed Officers employed on a temporary 
contract of less than two years duration may be entitled to claim removal expenses 
only for the purpose of moving personal effects. 

2. Scope 
The Council offers financial assistance to newly appointed Officers on Grade E and 
above, whose place of residence is outside the District boundary. The scheme is 
offered to newly appointed, full and part time Officers. Assistance in appropriate 
cases is afforded with removals and associated disturbance costs. 

3. Removal Allowance 
The payment for removal shall be 100% of the reasonable expenses involved in 
domestic removal from one abode to another (including appropriate insurance) 
based on the acceptance of the lowest of three competitive tenders. 

Where an initial removal is made to temporary accommodation locally until suitable 
permanent accommodation is found, only the first or main removal is covered by 
these provisions. Two days removal leave will also be granted upon request in 
writing to the post holder's Chief Officer. 

4. Disturbance Allowance 
A disturbance allowance to a maximum of £5,125 including VAT shall be 
reimbursed. This is subject to receipts for all expenditures. This allowance may be 
used to cover such items such as: 

 Legal Fees 

 Estate Agent Fees 

 Storage Costs 

 Lodging/Rental Costs 

 Purchase of white goods/carpets 

 Buying out of a car lease from a previous local authority employer, or similar 
penalty (inclusive of tax liability) 

 Any other items incurred in relocating which the Chief Officer deems 
appropriate 

Page  27



  

20 

 

5. Conditions of Payment 
Officers shall generally settle their accounts for removals, legal and estate agents 
fees themselves and then submit the original invoices to Human Resources to 
ensure that any payments to be made are in accordance with the Councils 
approved relocation scheme. The verified invoices will then be submitted to the 
Department of Finance for payment. 

Any claim for payment under this scheme shall be made within twelve months of 
the date of commencement of employment with the Authority. In exceptional 
circumstances this period may be extended subject to Committee approval. 

An Officer shall not receive any payments unless that Officer has first entered into 
an agreement undertaking to repay the whole or part of such payments as 
mentioned hereunder, in the event of leaving the Councils service within a period 
of three years from the date of commencement of employment with the Authority. 

Claim Form - Allowances Available for Newly Appointed Staff - Undertaking to 
Repay Allowances Form 

Completed Service Amount to be Repaid 

Completed Service Amount to be Repaid 

Up to 1 year 100.00% 

Between 1 - 2 years 66.66% 

Between 2 - 3 years 33.33% 

More than 3 years Nil 

6. Tax and National Insurance Liability 
Provided you move house as a result of your appointment and all allowances are 
paid before the end of the tax year following the year you start the new job, there is 
no tax or national insurance liability. (NB it does not matter when you actually 
move home for Inland Revenue purposes). However, all payments made, which 
are not in accordance with the above are subject to tax and national insurance 
contributions. Such payments are recorded by Financial Services who will then 
forward the information to Inland Revenue. 

7. Maximum Claim 
Please note that the maximum total amount claimable under this scheme is £5,125 

Page  28



  

21 

 

Pay Policy Statement 2018/2019/2020 

Annex 3 Salary Protection Arrangements in the event of 
re-grading or re-deployment 

1. Purpose 
1.1 The purpose of these arrangements is to provide a defined period during which 

the existing salary of an individual who has been adversely affected by a 
management change within the organisation will be protected. This protected 
period is intended to provide time during which all opportunities may be explored 
to negate the need for such protection; eg re-training, transfer or appointment to a 
suitable alternative post. 

1.2 It is not the purpose of these arrangements to protect the salary of an individual 
who may be re-graded as a result of action to address issues of the capability of 
that individual to carry out the duties of the post currently held, re-deployed within 
the Authority for disciplinary reasons or where an individual voluntarily applies for 
a lower graded post to pursue a personal preference. 

2. Application 
2.1 The circumstances where the salary protection arrangements will operate are: 

 where the grade of an occupied post is reduced to the extent that the 
maximum salary available on the new grade falls below the salary of the post-
holder; 

 where an individual is transferred to an agreed suitable alternative post as 
part of a restructuring or redundancy programme and the maximum salary 
available in the grade of the new post falls below the individual's current 
salary. 

3. Protection Arrangements 
3.1 The frozen salary will be paid for a maximum of 3 years from the effective date 

terminating on: 

 the individual leaving the Council's employment; 

 the end of the current temporary/fixed term contract; 

 the date when the frozen salary is equalled or overtaken by the maximum 
salary appropriate for the job held by the individual (including supplements, 
allowances, regular or contractual overtime, enhanced rates, etc); 

 the individual voluntarily transferring to a position not considered to represent 
a suitable alternative post; or 

 the unreasonable refusal by an individual to take an agreed suitable 
alternative post within the Authority. 

3.2 The salary of the individual would be frozen at the appropriate effective date of 
the change (ie date of taking up the new post/date when re-grading takes effect). 

3.3 It will be a condition of protection that, during the period for which it applies, the 
individual concerned will assist the management by undertaking any reasonable 

Page  29



  

22 

 

and appropriate additional duties, which equate to the protected salary level, 
without further remuneration. If, taking into account relevant circumstances, the 
individual unreasonably refuses to assist management in the way described, the 
protection arrangements would be deemed to no longer be applicable and would 
be terminated. However, any exceptional overtime worked, but not included in the 
calculation of comparator salary as set out below, will be paid on an hourly rate 
appropriate to the maximum of the grade appropriate to the post. 

3.4 Where an individual is in receipt of a protected salary and transfers to another 
suitable alternative post the protection will only remain for the balance of the 
original period of protection as determined under 3.1 above. 

4. Calculation of Protected Salary 
4.1 The salary to be frozen will be that existing at the effective date determined and 

will include: 

 the value of any contractual overtime; 

 the value of any contractual supplements to salary; and 

 the value of any contractual enhanced rates due to working rotas. 

4.2 The comparator salary against which the frozen salary will be measured for 
termination will include: 

 the value of any contractual or regular overtime; 

 the value of any supplements to salary; 

 the value of any enhanced rates due to working rotas; and 

 any other elements of remuneration which form a regular element of the 
salary paid. 

4.3 The underlying principle to the calculation of the frozen and comparator salaries 
is that an individual is being protected from being financially worse off as a result 
of management change. The arrangements are not intended to create a situation 
whereby an individual is better off through the facility of protection of salary and 
the addition of new or changed terms and conditions. An overall assessment of 
the net change in remuneration will therefore be the final determinant of any 
calculation. 

5. Interpretation 
5.1 Suitable alternative post - suitable alternative posts will be identified by 

management in discussion with the post holder concerned having regard to 
competencies and to relative salary levels. The Council's agreed Grievance 
Procedure will operate to resolve cases of disagreement on this or other aspects 
of the protection arrangements. 

6. Duration of the Salary Protection Arrangements 
6.1 Both management and UNISON Branch have the right to terminate this 

agreement at any time on the giving of three months’ notice of that termination. 
Any variations sought to this agreement will be dealt with through the normal 
consultation arrangements. 

Page  30



  

23 

 

6.2 Any individual in receipt of salary protection at the time of the review or 
discontinuance of the protection arrangements will continue to receive protection 
on the agreed terms and conditions for the full remainder of the period of 
protection to which they are subject. 

7. Additional Option Available During Implementation of Job 
Evaluation 
In addition to the standard salary protection arrangements applicable to instances 
of re-grading, the individual may request that a phased reduction of the difference 
between the 'frozen' salary and the salary for the new evaluated grade is 
substituted for the above. The allowance of this alternative will be at the 
discretion of the management and the following phasing would apply: 

 Year 1 'new' salary plus 80% of difference 

 Year 2 'new' salary plus 60% of difference 

 Year 3 'new' salary plus 40% of difference 

 Year 4 'new' salary plus 20% of difference 

 Year 5 'new' salary plus 10% of difference 

Page  31



  

24 

 

Pay Policy Statement 2018/2019/2020 

Annex 4 – Local Government Pension Scheme Employer 
Discretions – Statement of Policy 
EMPLOYER NAME: Eden District Council 

The employer stated above has prepared this written statement of policy in relation to its 
exercise of certain discretionary functions available under the LGPS regulations. 

Overarching Policy 
In law even if an authority has a policy not to exercise discretion the Council would have 
to consider the application of a discretion if it were asked. The applicant would have to 
justify the exercise of the discretion and the Council would have to be satisfied that the 
application was appropriate and lawful. 

The criteria in relation to the exercise of the discretions are general and the reference to 
considering any material factor or consideration would mean any relevant issue could be 
considered. The relevant policies make it absolutely clear that financial issues must be 
given due consideration. It is not practicable to encompass all factors which may be 
relevant. 

Any exercise of any discretion which results in a financial cost to the Council, whether 
by augmenting pensionable service, discretionary compensation or additional pension, 
will always be made by the Human Resources and Appeals Committee, unless another 
approach has been expressly approved by Council such as in relation to Chief Officer 
Posts where consideration may need to be made by full council as detailed in the 
Council’s annual Pay Policy Statement. 

In all cases clear account will be taken of the individual circumstances of an applicant. 
The exercise of any discretion must be non-discriminatory, in accordance with policy 
and be affordable to the Council. 

Page  32



  

25 

 

PART A – Mandatory policy statements – Formulation of policy in accordance 
with: 
Regulation 60 of the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) Regulations 2013 

Paragraph 2 (2) of Schedule 2 to the LGPS (Transitional Provisions, Savings and 
Amendment) Regulations 2014 

Regulation 66 of the Local Government Pension Scheme (Administration) Regulations 
2008 

Regulation 106 of the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 1997 

PART A1 – Discretions from 1 April 2014 in relation to post 31 March 2014 active 
members and post 31 March 2014 leavers (excluding Councillor Members) 

Power of Scheme employer to award additional pension 

(Regulation 31 of the LGPS Regulations 2013) 

An employer can grant extra annual pension of up to a maximum £6,500 (figure at 01 
April 2014) to an active Scheme member or within 6 months of leaving to a member 
whose employment was terminated on the grounds of redundancy or business 
efficiency. This maximum figure that can be initially awarded will be index linked and the 
level increased on the 1st April each year. 

Employer's policy: 

The Council will not normally grant extra annual pension except where there is a clear 
financial or operational advantage to be gained by the Council by doing so. Any exercise 
of any discretion which results in a financial cost to the Council will always be made by 
the Human Resources and Appeals Committee, unless another approach has been 
expressly approved by Council, such as in relation to Chief Officer Posts, where 
consideration may need to be made by full council as detailed in the Council’s annual 
Pay Policy Statement. 

Any discretionary enhancement must not have the effect that the total cost of any 
redundancy or retirement would exceed a 3 year payback period. Any discretionary 
payment which may be approved would be reduced so that a pay back over a period of 3 
years is achieved. In relation to any individual the total of any redundancy payment, the 
actuarial cost of any early payment of pension and the actuarial cost of any discretionary 
enhancements must be no more than 3 years’ salary cost including any employer’s 
costs. This cap is unlikely to affect many individuals as the cost to the Council of 
redundancies will on average be substantially less than three years of salary. 

Page  33



  

26 

 

Power of Scheme employer to contribute towards the cost of a member 
purchasing additional pension 

(Regulation 16 (2) (e) and 16 (4) (e) of the LGPS Regulations 2013) 

Where an active Scheme member wishes to purchase extra annual pension of up to 
£6,500 (figure at 1 April 2014) by making Additional Pension Contributions (APCs), the 
employer may voluntarily contribute towards the cost of purchasing that extra pension 
via a Shared Cost Additional Pension Contribution. This maximum figure that can be 
initially purchased will be index linked and the level increased on the 1st April each year. 

Employer's policy: 

The Council will not normally contribute towards the cost of purchasing extra pension 
except where there is a clear financial or operational advantage to be gained by the 
Council by doing so. Any exercise of any discretion which results in a financial cost to 
the Council will always be made by the Human Resources and Appeals Committee, 
unless another approach has been expressly approved by Council, such as in relation to 
Chief Officer Posts, where consideration may need to be made by full council as 
detailed in the Council’s annual Pay Policy Statement. 

Page  34



  

27 

 

Flexible retirement 

(Regulation 30 (6) and (8) of the LGPS Regulations 2013, Regulations 3 (5), 11(2) 
and 11(3) of the LGPS (Transitional Provisions, Savings and Amendment) 
Regulations 2014 and regulation 18(3) of the LGPS (Benefits, Membership and 
Contributions) Regulations 2007) 

The Local Government Pension Scheme allows scheme members who have attained 
the age of 55 to draw all or part of their retirement benefits under flexible retirement 
arrangements even though they have not retired providing that: 

 the employer consents, and 

 there has been a reduction in hours, or 

 a reduction in grade. 

Specifically where the employer consents to flexible retirement then, in addition to the 
benefits the member has accrued prior to 1 April 2008 (which the member must draw), 
the employer can also allow the member to choose to draw all, part or none of the 
pension benefits they accrued after 31 March 2008. 

However, benefits taken on flexible retirement will be subject to a potential actuarial 
reduction if they are being drawn earlier than the member’s normal retiring age (flexible 
retirement provisions may be operated for members potentially up to a member's 75th 
birthday). The reductions applied will be in accordance with guidance issued by the 
government actuary. Employers can if they choose waive, in whole or in part, any 
reductions that might apply. 

Employer's policy: 

The Council will exercise this discretion, which operates within the Council’s Flexible 
Retirement Procedure. The procedure is available for use in certain circumstances 
where this can be justified in terms of criteria and affordability. It is not a general 
entitlement that enables employees to retire early. 

The Chief Officer may determine any request for flexible retirement unless the request 
has any cost to the Council or if the request relates to a Chief Officer. Any exercise of 
any discretion which results in a financial cost to the Council will always be made by 
the Human Resources and Appeals Committee, unless another approach has been 
expressly approved by Council, such as in relation to Chief Officer Posts, where 
consideration may need to be made by full council as detailed in the Council’s annual 
Pay Policy Statement. 

Page  35



  

28 

 

Early retirement and waiving actuarial reductions 
(Schedule 2 paragraphs 1(2), 2(1), 2(2) and Regulation 3 (1) of the LGPS 
(Transitional Provisions, Savings and Amendment) Regulations 2014, Regulation 
30(8) of the LGPS Regulations 2013 and regulation 30(5) and 30A(5) of the LGPS 
(Benefits, Membership and Contributions) Regulations 2007) 

If a member leaves a local government employment before they are entitled to the 
immediate payment of retirement benefits, then if they are age 55 or more (or having 
attained age 55 and have previously been awarded deferred benefits after 01 April 
2014) they may choose to receive payment of them immediately. 

Any benefits payable may be reduced as appropriate in accordance with guidance 
issued by the Government Actuary. Employers can if they choose waive, in whole or in 
part, any reductions that might apply and the employer must pay to the Pension Fund a 
sum representing the capital cost of waiving those reductions. 

Due to the complexity in the level of protected benefits that now apply to different 
members, establishing what level of benefits can be waived can be difficult. Appendix 1 
lists the options available to employers in terms of the level of reductions that can be 
waived and the grounds under which they may be waived. 

Employer's policy: 

The Council will exercise this discretion where this can be justified in terms of criteria 
and affordability. 

The Chief Officer may exercise this discretion unless the request has any cost to the 
Council or if the request relates to a Chief Officer. Any exercise of any discretion which 
results in a financial cost to the Council will always be made by the Human Resources 
and Appeals Committee, unless another approach has been expressly approved by 
Council, such as in relation to Chief Officer Posts, where consideration may need to be 
made by full council as detailed in the Council’s annual Pay Policy Statement.  

Page  36



  

29 

 

PART A2 – Discretions in relation to scheme members who ceased active 
membership on or after 1 April 2008 and before 1 April 2014 (excluding councillor 
members) 

Power of Scheme employer to award additional membership 
(Regulation 3 (10) of the LGPS (Transitional Provisions, Savings and Amendment) 
Regulations 2014 and regulation 12 of the LGPS (Benefits, Membership and 
Contributions) Regulations 2007) 

An employer can within 6 months of the date of termination grant extra membership in 
the pension scheme to a Scheme member whose employment was terminated before 1 
April 2014 on the grounds of redundancy or business efficiency. Note that this is a time 
limited discretion which expires on 30 September 2014 for those whose employment is 
terminated on 31 March 2014. 

Employer's policy: 

The Council will not exercise this discretion. 

Page  37



  

30 

 

Early release of deferred benefits with employer consent 
(Regulations 30(2), (5), 30A(3) and (5) of the LGPS (Benefits, Membership and 
Contributions) Regulations 2007) 

A policy decision concerning early release of benefits needs to be made in relation to 
members who have left the scheme between 1 April 2008 and 31 March 2014 with 
deferred benefits (or suspended tier 3 benefits) who make an application to release 
benefits on or after age 55 and before age 60. 

In addition a further policy decision is required to determine whether, on compassionate 
grounds, to waive any actuarial reduction that would normally be applied to deferred 
benefits which are paid before age 65.  

Employer's policy: 

The Council will exercise this discretion and will consider requests for early release of 
benefits on an individual basis where this can be justified in terms of criteria and 
affordability. 

Any exercise of any discretion which results in a financial cost to the Council will always 
be made by the Human Resources and Appeals Committee, unless another approach 
has been expressly approved by Council, such as in relation to Chief Officer Posts, 
where consideration may need to be made by full council as detailed in the Council’s 
annual Pay Policy Statement. 

The Council will not exercise the discretion to waive actuarial reductions on 
compassionate grounds. 

Page  38



  

31 

 

PART A3 – Discretions in relation to scheme members who ceased active 
membership on or after 1 April 1998 and before 1 April 2008. 

Early release of deferred benefits with employer consent 
(Regulations 31(2) and (5) of the LGPS Regulations 1997) 

A policy decision concerning early release of benefits needs to be made in relation to 
active members who have left the scheme between 1 April 1998 and 31 March 2008 
with deferred benefits. 

In addition a further policy decision is required to determine whether, on compassionate 
grounds, to waive any actuarial reduction that would normally be applied to deferred 
benefits which are paid before age 65. 

*It should be noted that benefits paid on or after age 50 and before age 55 would be 
subject to an unauthorised payments charge under the Finance Act 2004 and, where 
applicable, an unauthorised payments surcharge under that Act, and a Scheme sanction 
charge on any benefits built up after 5 April 2006. 

Employer's policy: 

The Council will exercise this discretion and will consider requests for early release of 
benefits on an individual basis where this can be justified in terms of criteria and 
affordability. 

Any exercise of any discretion which results in a financial cost to the Council will always 
be made by the Human Resources and Appeals Committee, unless another approach 
has been expressly approved by Council, such as in relation to Chief Officer Posts, 
where consideration may need to be made by full council as detailed in the Council’s 
annual Pay Policy Statement. 

The Council will not exercise the discretion to waive actuarial reductions on 
compassionate grounds. 

Page  39



  

32 

 

PART A4 – Discretions in relation to scheme members who ceased active 
membership before 1 April 1998 
(Regulation D11(2) (c) of the LGPS Regulations 1995) 

A policy decision concerning early release of benefits needs to be made in relation to 
active members who have left the scheme before 1 April 1998 who make an application 
on compassionate grounds to release benefits on or after age 50* and before age 60. 
Under these rules the sole discretion for an employing authority is that they may 
determine on compassionate grounds that benefits are to become payable on an 
unreduced basis.  

*It should be noted that benefits paid on or after age 50 and before age 55 would be 
subject to an unauthorised payments charge under the Finance Act 2004 and, where 
applicable, an unauthorised payments surcharge under that Act, a Scheme sanction 
charge will not be payable.  

Employer's policy: 

The Council will not exercise the discretion to waive actuarial reductions on 
compassionate grounds. 

Page  40



  

33 

 

PART B – Formulation of policy in accordance with further discretions under the 
Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 

As highlighted in the employer bulletin, there are a number of other discretions which 
Scheme employers may exercise under the LGPS Regulations 2013. There is, however, 
no requirement to have a written policy in respect of these. However the following areas 
of discretion would be useful for scheme members, in order for them to establish the 
clear policy intention that the employers hold in these particular areas.  

Shared Cost Additional Voluntary Contributions (SCAVCs) 
(Regulation 17 of the LGPS Regulations 2013, Regulations 15(1)(d) of the LGPS 
(Transitional Provisions, Savings and Amendment) Regulations 2014, Regulation 
25(3) of the LGPS (Administration) Regulations 2008 and Regulation 15(3) of the 
LGPS (Benefits, Membership and Contributions) Regulations 2007) 

An active member may elect to pay Additional Voluntary Contributions (“AVCs”) into a 
scheme established under contract between their appropriate administering authority 
and a body approved for the purposes of the Finance Act 2004. 

An employer can, at its discretion, contribute to the AVC scheme and where they do the 
AVC scheme is known as a Shared Cost Additional Voluntary Contribution arrangement 
(SCAVC). An employer should establish whether, how much and in what circumstances 
to either continue with an existing SCAVC or enter into a new SCAVC. 

Employer's policy: 

The Council will not exercise the discretion to share costs of any additional voluntary 
contributions arrangement. 

Page  41



  

34 

 

Late transfer requests 
(Regulation 100(6) and 22(7) and (8) of the LGPS Regulations 2013) 

The Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations allow for the acceptance of 
transfer value payments into the fund (subject to the Pension Fund administering 
authorities approval) to enable members to transfer pension rights accrued prior to 
joining the scheme into the LGPS, and thereby count additional pension. This election 
should be made within 12 months of first joining the LGPS in the employment. 

The discretion allowed under regulation 100(6) relates to the acceptance of transfers 
relating to non LGPS membership, where the member makes a request after the expiry 
of the first 12 months of joining the LGPS. 

Previous LGPS rights are automatically aggregated unless an election to keep those 
accrued benefits separate is received. Regulations 22 (7) and (8) allow an employer to 
extend the 12 month time limit within which a Scheme member who has a deferred 
LGPS benefit in England or Wales following the cessation of employment (or cessation 
of a concurrent employment) to elect not to have the deferred benefits aggregated with 
their new LGPS employment (or on-going concurrent LGPS employment) if the member 
has not made an election to retain separate benefits within 12 months of commencing 
membership of the LGPS in the new employment (or within 12 months of ceasing the 
concurrent membership). 

Employer's policy: 

The Council will not exercise this discretion, except in cases where an error has been 
made by the employer or administering authority. 

Page  42



  

35 

 

Contributions payable by active members 
(Regulation 9 and 10 of the LGPS Regulations 2013) 

An active member shall make contributions to the Scheme at the relevant contribution 
rate, from their pensionable pay, in each employment in which they are an active 
member. The contribution rate to be applied to their pensionable pay in any financial 
year is the rate determined by the employer with reference to the tiered contribution pay 
bands stated in the regulations. 

Where there is a material change to a member's pensionable pay in the course of a 
financial year, the employer may re-determine the contribution rate to be applied. 

Employer's policy: 

The Council will exercise this discretion and reserves the right to review the rate of 
contribution following a change to an employee’s pensionable pay. 

Page  43



  

36 

 

Assumed Pensionable Pay 
(Regulation 21(4) and (5) of the LGPS Regulations 2013) 

Whether or not, when calculating assumed pensionable pay when a member: 

 is on reduced contractual pay or no pay on due to sickness or injury, or  

 is absent during ordinary maternity, paternity or adoption leave or during 
paid additional maternity, paternity or adoption leave, or  

 is absent on reserve forces service leave, or  

 retires with a Tier 1 or Tier 2 ill health pension, or  

 dies in service  

to include in the calculation the amount of any ‘regular lump sum payment’ received by 
the member in the 12 months preceding the date the absence began or the ill health 
retirement or death occurred. A ‘regular lump sum payment’ is a payment for which the 
member’s employer determines there is a reasonable expectation that such a payment 
would be paid on a regular basis. 

Employer's policy: 

The Council will include any ‘regular lump sum payment’ in the calculation of assumed 
pensionable pay. 

Page  44



  

37 

 

PART C – Mandatory policy statement* – Formulation of policy in accordance 
with: 
Regulation 7 of the Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary 
Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 2006 
Regulation 26 of the Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) 
(Discretionary Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 2000 
Regulation 14 of the Local Government (Discretionary Payments) (Injury Allowances) 
Regulations 2011 

*The mandatory requirements for a written policy under these regulations do not extend 
to employers whose employees are members of the LGPS by virtue of an admission 
agreement however as the provisions still apply it would be deemed appropriate for a 
policy statement to be in place 

PART C1 – Discretions in relation to the Local Government (Early Termination of 
Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 
2006 

Redundancy and Compensation Payments 
(Regulation 5 and 6 of the Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) 
(Discretionary Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 2006) 

These regulations provide a discretionary power to award a one-off lump sum payment 
of up to 2 years pay (104 weeks), inclusive of any redundancy payment made. This 
applies to any member who terminates their employment on the grounds of redundancy, 
efficiency or in the case of a joint appointment (not job shares) where termination arises 
because the other holder of the joint appointment has left it. 

The provisions apply to all employees who are eligible for participation in the LG 
Pension Scheme, whether or not they are current members of the scheme. 

There is also a discretionary power to waive the weekly pay ceiling placed on statutory 
redundancy payments and to calculate, instead, on pay up to the actual week's pay. 

Employer's policy: 

The Council will exercise its discretion to increase statutory redundancy payments in 
accordance with regulation 5 of the 2006 regulations. The calculation will be on the 
basis of the employee’s actual week’s pay The statutory limit on the amount of the 
week’s pay used in the calculation of the statutory redundancy payment will not be 
applied. The redundancy payment will be calculated on an individual’s actual week’s pay 
and taking account of his/her age and length of service based on the statutory 
redundancy pay reckoner. The calculation will be based on continuous local government 
service with any other local authority or employer covered by the Redundancy 
Payments Modification Order. 

As an alternative and under regulation 6 of the 2006 regulations the Council may 
augment the pensionable service of an employee or make a payment of additional 
pension. The Council recognises that there may be certain circumstances where 
discretionary compensation payments may be appropriate in order to facilitate 
organisational change that will lead to service improvements or to support service 
review and may introduce a specific scheme to be applied in such circumstances. 
Ordinarily, the Council would not exercise its discretion to make a payment of 
discretionary compensation. 

Page  45



  

38 

 

PART C2 – Discretions in relation to the Local Government (Early Termination of 
Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 
2000 

Redundancy and Compensatory Added Years payments 
(Regulation 17, 19, 21 and 25 of the Local Government (Early Termination of 
Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 
2000) 

Prior to the 2006 discretionary regulations employers could award employees’ additional 
service following a redundancy or efficiency retirement where that employee was over 
age 50. Although this facility is no longer available to current active employees, there 
are still discretionary decisions to be made in respect of employees who are already in 
receipt of additional service. These include: 

 How to apportion any surviving spouses or civil partners annual compensatory 
added years’ payment where the deceased person is survived by more than one 
spouse or civil partner. 

 How the annual added years will be apportioned amongst any eligible children. 

 Whether, in respect of the spouse of a person who ceased employment before 1 
April 1998 and where the spouse or civil partner remarries, enters into a new civil 
partnership or cohabits after 1 April 1998, the normal pension suspension rules 
should be ignored i.e. whether the spouse's or civil partner's annual 
compensatory added years payments should continue to be paid or if the 
authority's policy is to apply the normal suspension rules, whether the spouse's or 
civil partner's annual compensatory added years payment should be reinstated 
after the end of the remarriage, new civil partnership or cohabitation. 

 Whether and to what extent to reduce or suspend the member's annual 
compensatory added years payment during any period of re-employment in local 
government and how to reduce the member's annual compensatory added years 
payment following the cessation of a period of re-employment in local 
government. 

Employer's policy: 

The Council will apportion any surviving spouse or civil partner’s payments equally 
where there is more than one surviving spouse or civil partner. 

The Council will apportion any eligible children’s payments equally. 

The Council will continue to pay the Compensatory Added Years payment in cases of 
remarriage or a new civil partnership. The Council does not apply the normal 
suspension rules, so this element is not applicable. 

The Council will fully suspend any Compensatory Added Years payment during any 
period of re-employment in Local Government. 

Page  46



  

39 

 

PART C3 – Discretions in relation to the Local Government (Discretionary 
Payments) (Injury Allowances) Regulations 2011 

Injury Allowance payments 
(Regulations 3 to 7 of the Local Government (Discretionary Compensation) (Injury 
Allowances) Regulations 2011) 

Under the Local Government (Discretionary Payments) (Injury Allowances) Regulations 
2011 Scheme employers must formulate, publish and keep under review a policy on:  

a) whether or not to make an injury award to those who sustain an injury or contract 
a disease as a result of anything they were required to do in performing the duties 
of their job and in consequence of which they: 

 suffer a reduction remuneration, or  

 cease to be employed as a result of an incapacity which is likely to be 
permanent and which was caused by the injury or disease, or  

 die leaving a surviving spouse, civil partner or dependant, and  

b) if the Scheme employer has a policy to make such payments, how it will 
determine the amount of injury allowance to be paid 

Employer's policy: 

Personal Accident Insurance is provided for all employees. This means that if a member 
of staff has an accident which results in death or disablement whilst at work, or travelling 
directly to or from work, they or their family will receive compensation. The 
compensation payable represents maximum sum equal to three times annual earnings 
for death or total disablement. If the accident causes the employee to give up their job 
they will also receive maximum compensation. There is a reduced rate of compensation 
for other injuries, depending upon the degree of injury sustained. The full policy is 
available for inspection in the Finance Department. 

Page  47



  

40 

 

Declaration 

It is understood that the above discretions are applicable to all eligible members of the 
Scheme. Any change to the discretions exercised under the LGPS Regulations can take 
immediate effect from the date the Scheme employer agrees the change except that 
any change to the discretions exercised under the Discretionary Compensation 
Regulations 2000, the Discretionary Compensation Regulations 2006 or the Injury 
Allowances Regulations 2011 cannot take effect until one month after the date the 
Scheme employer publishes a statement of its amended policy. 

The policies made above: 

i. Have regard to the extent to which the exercise of the discretions could lead to a 
serious loss of confidence in the public service; 

ii. Will not be used for any ulterior motive; 
iii. Will be exercised reasonably; 
iv. Will only be used when there is a real and substantial future benefit to the 

employer for incurring the extra costs that may arise; 
v. Will be duly recorded when applied. 

 

Page  48



 

39 

 
Appendix A – if voluntarily retiring 

If there is an actuarial reduction regarding the particular tranche of membership, the employer has the right to: 

 Group 1 Group 2 Group 3 Group 4 

Part A Waive all or none on 
compassionate grounds. 

Waive all or none on 
compassionate grounds  

Waive all or none on 
compassionate grounds. 

Waive all or none on 
compassionate grounds. 

Part 
B1 

Waive all or none on 
compassionate grounds. 

Waive all or none on 
compassionate grounds. 

Waive all or none on 
compassionate grounds. 

Waive all or none on this on 
compassionate grounds. 

Part 
B2 

Waive all or none on 
compassionate grounds. 

Waive all or none on 
compassionate grounds. 

Waive all, some or none 
on any grounds. 

Waive all, some or none on 
any grounds. 

Part C Waive all, some or none on any 
grounds. 

Waive all or none on 
compassionate grounds. 

Waive all, some or none 
on any grounds. 

Waive all, some or none on 
any grounds. 

Part 
D1 

Waive all, some or none on any 
grounds. 

Waive all, some or none on 
any grounds. 

Waive all, some or none 
on any grounds. 

Waive all, some or none on 
any grounds. 

Part A = membership to 31 March 2008 

Part B1= membership 1 April 2008 to 31 March 2014 

Part B2 = membership 1 April 2014 to 31 March 2016 

Part C = membership 1 April 2016 to 31 March 2020 

Part D1 = membership 1 April 2020 onwards 

Group 1 member = a member who was an active member prior to 1 October 2006 and who was born on 31 March 1956 or earlier. 

Group 2 member = a member who was an active member prior to 1 October 2006, was born between 1 April 1956 and 31 March 
1960 inclusive, and who would reach their CRA by 31 March 2020. 

P
age  49



 

40 

Group 3 member = a member who was an active member prior to 1 October 2006 and who is not a Group 1 or Group 2 member  

Group 4 member = a member who was not a member prior to 1 October 2006. 

If member retires on flexible retirement, the employer may waive all, some or none of any reduction on any ground. 

P
age  50



Report No: TES19/19
Eden District Council

Council
7 March 2019

Cumbria Joint Public Health Strategy
Portfolio: Housing and Health Portfolio

Report from: Assistant Director Community Services

Wards: All Wards

OPEN PUBLIC ITEM

1 Purpose
1.1 To enable consideration to be given to the Cumbria Joint Public Health 

Strategy: Tackling the Wider Determinants of Health, as a key partner. The 
Strategy describes the shared ambition of Cumbrian partners to help bring 
about the environmental, social and economic conditions that can best 
support Cumbrian residents to enjoy a healthy and happy life.

2 Recommendations
It is recommended that:

2.1 the Cumbria Joint Public Health Strategy (Appendix 1) be approved.

3 Background
3.1 This strategy has been developed by the Cumbria Public Health Alliance, 

which includes partners from across local government, the health service and 
the third sector, including Eden District Council. It describes the shared 
ambition of these partners to help bring about the environmental, social and 
economic conditions that can best support Cumbrian residents to enjoy a 
healthy and happy life.

3.2 The Cumbria Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019-29 identifies four key 
themes:

 Protecting the health of the population as a whole

 Improving health and wellbeing throughout the life course

 Tackling the wider determinants of health and wellbeing

 Providing high quality, person-centred care.
3.3 The overall public health approach for Cumbria can be seen as having three 

main strands, connected to three of the four key themes of the Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy.

 Health protection remains a core part of the public health agenda and 
like all parts of public health has a significant multi-agency dimension. 

Page  51

Agenda Item 9



 The life course approach (starting well, developing well, living well, 
ageing well and dying well) is being used as a core component of the 
health and wellbeing frameworks for the two emerging Integrated Health 
and Care Partnerships in West, North and East Cumbria and Morecambe 
Bay. Action that focuses on working with individuals, for example in 
supporting them to stop smoking, eating a more healthy diet, reducing 
alcohol consumption and being more physically active, as well as 
individual support for mental wellbeing, is more fully outlined in these 
health and wellbeing frameworks.

 Wider determinants of health and wellbeing - public health action is 
also required at a broader social, environmental and economic level. 
Variation in access to or quality of the wider determinants of health and 
wellbeing is the single biggest driver of health inequalities and influences 
an individual’s health behaviour.

3.4 It is the third of these strands, creating the conditions in which individuals can 
have opportunities to be healthy and to take action in support of their own 
health and wellbeing that is the focus of the strategy. In line with the 
timeframes for the Health and Wellbeing Strategy, this strategy covers the 
period 2019 – 2029.

3.5 This strategy is adapted from the “five capitals” model proposed by Forum for 
the Future as a framework for sustainable systems. Interpreted for the 
purposes of a public health strategy, this model suggests that a community is 
healthy and sustainable when it has:

 Natural assets: A high quality natural environment that provides 
opportunities for engagement with the natural world.

 Human assets: People with the skills, knowledge, and experience that give 
them the capacity to take part in society and have meaningful and fulfilling 
lives.

 Social assets: A good social infrastructure, with networks and institutions 
that allow people to connect to each other.

 Physical assets: A good physical infrastructure including housing, 
transport, and a commercial environment that promotes healthy 
behaviours.

 Financial assets: Adequate financial resources that are fairly distributed.
3.6 Implementation
3.6.1 As stated within the strategy it is recognised that achieving these aspirations 

will take concerted action at many levels, including work to influence national 
policy. Much of the implementation of the strategy depends on the work of 
District Councils. Consequently this strategy will be supported by a range of 
action plans, developed and implemented at different levels, as follows:

 Health and Wellbeing Board - Responsible for setting the Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy for Cumbria, of which this strategy is a core part. 
Formally recommends the Public Health Strategy to partner organisations.

Page  52



 Public Health Alliance - Oversees the development and implementation of 
this strategy as a whole. Responsible for developing, monitoring and 
regularly reviewing the County-wide implementation plan.

 Local Health and Wellbeing Forums – the Eden Health and Wellbeing 
Forum is currently chaired by Eden District Council’s Housing and Health 
Portfolio Holder. Responsible for developing, monitoring and regularly 
reviewing implementation plans at District/Local Committee level. These 
plans will be formally owned by both District Councils and County Council 
Local Committees.

 Individual Organisations - Responsible for implementing specific actions 
within both the County and Local implementation plans.

3.6.2 Key to the implementation of this strategy will be the development of 
mechanisms for working together and for assessing how decisions that are 
being made influence the aims set out in this strategy. Some of these 
mechanisms, such as the Public Health Alliance and the Local Health and 
Wellbeing Fora, are in place already but will be refreshed to enable them to 
develop local action in support of the strategy.

4 Policy Framework
4.1 The Council has four corporate priorities which are:

 Decent Homes for All;
 Strong Economy, Rich Environment;
 Thriving Communities; and
 Quality Council

4.2 This report meets the Decent Homes for All and Thriving Communities 
corporate priorities.

5 Consultation
5.1 The Housing and Health Portfolio Holder has been consulted with regards to 

the report and is content with the proposals.

6 Implications
6.1 Financial and Resources
6.1.1 Any decision to reduce or increase resources or alternatively increase 

income must be made within the context of the Council’s stated priorities, as 
set out in its Council Plan 2015-19 as agreed at Council on 17 September 
2015.

6.1.2 There are no financial implications arising from the report.
6.2 Legal
6.2.1 There are no legal implications arising from the report.
6.3 Human Resources
6.3.1 There are no legal implications arising from the report.

Page  53



6.4 Statutory Considerations

Consideration: Details of any implications and proposed 
measures to address:

Equality and Diversity The strategy seeks to support equality and 
diversity.

Health, Social 
Environmental and 
Economic Impact

The strategy addresses the health, social, 
environmental and economic impacts as the 
wider determinants of health and wellbeing.

Crime and Disorder None

Children and 
Safeguarding

The strategy will seek to have a positive impact 
on the health and wellbeing of children.

6.5 Risk Management

Risk Consequence Controls Required
Action across the 
region is not 
coordinated in a 
strategic way

Potential overlap or 
duplication leading to 
less than best use of 
resources.

Adoption of regional 
strategy.

7 Other Options Considered
7.1 No other options considered.

8 Reasons for the Decision/Recommendation
8.1 This report supports Decent Homes for All and Thriving Communities 

corporate priorities in the approval and implementation of the Joint Public 
Health Strategy.

Tracking Information

Governance Check 26 February 2019
Chief Finance Officer (or Deputy) 21 February 2019
Monitoring Officer (or Deputy) 26 February 2019
Relevant Assistant Director Report author

Background Papers:
Appendices: Appendix 1: Cumbria Joint Public Health Strategy: 

Tackling the Wider Determinants of Health
Contact Officer: Robert Docherty, Assistant Director Community Services

Tel: 01768 212328

Page  54



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

1

Cumbria Joint Public Health Strategy: 

Tackling the Wider Determinants of 
Health and Wellbeing

Version Number FINAL DRAFT
Date 6 February 2019

Introduction ............................................................................................................................................3

Strategic Context .................................................................................................................................4

Model of the determinants of health and wellbeing ..........................................................................5

The Current Position................................................................................................................................6

Vision for a Healthier Cumbria ................................................................................................................9

Planet: Growing our Natural Assets ......................................................................................................10

Improving the quality of and access to green space .........................................................................10

Promoting biodiversity and wildlife habitats ....................................................................................10

Tackling climate change ....................................................................................................................11

Air quality ..........................................................................................................................................12

Waste reduction................................................................................................................................12

People: Nurturing our Human Assets....................................................................................................14

Promoting education, skills and lifelong learning .............................................................................14

Ensuring meaningful and high quality occupations for all ................................................................15

Ensuring access to adequate leisure opportunities...........................................................................15

Promoting engagement with arts and culture ..................................................................................16

Tackling discrimination and exploitation...........................................................................................16

Participation: Building Social Connections ............................................................................................18

Building stronger communities .........................................................................................................18

Promoting social inclusion.................................................................................................................19

Building safer communities, including tackling crime and antisocial behaviour...............................19

Place: Improving physical assets ...........................................................................................................21

Promoting healthy town and country planning ................................................................................21

Developing a sustainable travel and transport system .....................................................................21

Ensuring high quality and safe housing .............................................................................................22

Access to healthy food ......................................................................................................................23

Page  55



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

2

Prosperity:  Fair and inclusive growth of our financial assets ...............................................................25

Reducing income inequalities............................................................................................................25

Promoting sustainable economic development................................................................................25

Key Measures of Progress .....................................................................................................................27

Planet ................................................................................................................................................27

People................................................................................................................................................27

Participation ......................................................................................................................................28

Place ..................................................................................................................................................29

Prosperity ..........................................................................................................................................30

Appendix 1: The Five Capitals Model ....................................................................................................32

Page  56



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

3

Cumbria Joint Public Health Strategy: 
Tackling the Wider Determinants of 
Health and Wellbeing

Introduction

This strategy has been developed by the Cumbria Public Health Alliance, which includes partners 
from across local government, the health service and the third sector. It describes the shared 
ambition of these partners to help bring about the environmental, social and economic conditions 
that can best support Cumbrian residents to enjoy a healthy and happy life. 

The aims outlined in this document are very ambitious, and achieving them is not simply a matter for  
the partners who have signed up to the strategy. Many of the key themes are influenced significantly 
by national and even international economic and political forces, and by the action of individuals as 
well as a wide range of private sector organisations, so there is no guarantee that the aims set out in 
this document can be achieved. The strategy therefore reflects the aspirations of partners and a 
commitment to work towards these over the long term, and to encourage others to work towards 
them, within the constraints that all agencies face.

Moving towards achieving these aspirations will take concerted action at many levels, including work 
to influence national policy.  Some of this action will need to be taken at the level of the whole 
County, while other work will take place at a more local level: much of the implementation of the 
strategy depends on the work of District Councils.  Consequently this strategy will be supported by a 
range of action plans, developed and implemented at different levels, as follows:

Health and 
Wellbeing 

Board

• Responsible for setting the overall Health and Wellbeing Strategy for Cumbria, of 
which this strategy is a core part.

• Formally recommends the Public Health Strategy to partner organisations.

Public Health 
Alliance

• Oversees the development and implementation of this strategy as a whole.
• Responsible for developing, monitoring and regularly reviewing the County-wide 
implementation plan.

Local HWB 
Fora

• Responsible for developing, monitoring and regularly reviewing implementation 
plans at District/Local Committee level.

• These plans will be formally owned by both District Councils and County Council 
Local Committees.

Individual 
Organisations

• Responsible for implementing specific actions within both the County and Local 
implementation plans.

Page  57



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

4

Key to the implementation of this strategy will be the development of mechanisms for working 
together and for assessing how decisions that are being made influence the aims set out in this 
strategy. Some of these mechanisms, such as the Public Health Alliance and the Local Health and 
Wellbeing Fora, are in place already but will be refreshed to enable them to develop local action in 
support of the strategy. 

In setting all the aims within this strategy, all partners recognise that there are significant constraints 
currently facing us. These include the powers available to local organisations, and significantly 
challenged budgets particularly within local government and the NHS, with knock-on impacts on the 
third sector. Achieving these aims in this environment will be extremely challenging, but our 
commitment as partners to this strategy is to make the best use of the limited powers and resources 
available to work towards these aims.

Strategic Context

The Cumbria Health and Wellbeing Strategy 2019-29  sets as its overarching vision: [Drafting Note: 
to be confirmed following consultation on that strategy]

“To enable Cumbrian communities to be healthy and to tackle health inequalities”

The factors that impact on people’s health and wellbeing are many and varied, and the strategies 
that are used to improve health and wellbeing therefore also need to be diverse and to address a 
number of different influences. Recognising this, the Health and Wellbeing Strategy identifies four 
key themes: [DN: to be confirmed following consultation on that strategy]

 Protecting the health of the population as a whole
 Improving health and wellbeing throughout the lifecourse
 Tackling the wider determinants of health and wellbeing
 Providing high quality, person-centred care.

Obviously public health is ultimately about people; however public health action does not just focus 
on individuals, but on social, economic, environmental and structural issues, as these have direct and 
indirect impacts on health and wellbeing. Consequently the overall public health approach for 
Cumbria can be seen as having three main strands, connected to three of the four key themes of the 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy.

Health protection remains a core part of the public health agenda and like all parts of public 
health has a significant multi-agency dimension. Screening and immunisations are 
commissioned by NHS England and delivered by local health services; communicable disease 
control involves significant joint efforts by the County Council public health team, District 
environmental health departments and Public Health England, among many others; and 
Emergency Planning and resilience is co-ordinated through the multi-agency Local Resilience 
Forum.

Over recent years, much public health activity has had an individual focus. The life course 
approach (starting well, developing well, living well, ageing well and dying well) is being used 
as a core component of the health and wellbeing frameworks for the two emerging 
Integrated Health and Care Partnerships in West, North and East Cumbria and Morecambe 
Bay. Action that focuses on working with individuals, for example in supporting them to stop 
smoking, eating a more healthy diet, reducing alcohol consumption and being more 

Page  58



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

5

physically active, as well as individual support for mental wellbeing, is more fully outlined in 
these health and wellbeing frameworks.

However public health action is also required at a broader social, environmental and 
economic level. Variation in access to or quality of the wider determinants of health and 
wellbeing is the single biggest driver of health inequalities and influences an individual’s 
health behaviour.  

It is the third of these strands, creating the conditions in which individuals can have opportunities to 
be healthy and to take action in support of their own health and wellbeing, that is the focus of this 
strategy. In line with the timeframes for the Health and Wellbeing Strategy, this strategy covers the 
period 2019 – 2029.  

Clearly these three main strands of work have inter-connections and overlaps; this is not a neat 
division. In particular, the wider determinants shape individual behaviour: diet, for example, is 
influenced both by individual factors such as attitudes and knowledge, and by social factors such as 
food availability, marketing and culture. This strategy therefore cannot stand alone as the way of 
improving health and wellbeing in Cumbria, but has to be seen alongside other plans that focus on 
working with individuals to influence mindsets and behaviours, as illustrated in Figure 1 overleaf.

Model of the determinants of health and wellbeing

This strategy is adapted from the “five capitals” model proposed by Forum for the Future as a 
framework for sustainable systems (see Appendix 1). Interpreted for the purposes of a public health 
strategy, this model suggests that a community is healthy and sustainable when it has:

Natural assets: A high quality natural environment that provides opportunities for 
engagement with the natural world.

Human assets: People with the skills, knowledge, and experience that give them the capacity 
to take part in society and have meaningful and fulfilling lives.

Social assets: A good social infrastructure, with networks and institutions that allow people 
to connect to each other.

Physical assets: A good physical infrastructure including housing, transport, and a 
commercial environment that promotes healthy behaviours.

Financial assets: Adequate financial resources that are fairly distributed.

Page  59



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

6

Figure 1: Determinants of Health and Wellbeing

A key feature of this model is that it emphasises the importance of building all five types of 
community assets without degrading any of them. It therefore sets a positive vision of building a 
better society in which everyone is able to maximise their potential for health and wellbeing. 

This can however be challenging in reality, as often there are actual or perceived competing 
demands. In particular, the requirement for increased housing or business infrastructure can 
compete with the desire to protect natural assets. So too can economic growth, which relies on all 
the other assets but can damage them if not thoughtfully and carefully pursued. This strategy 
therefore commits policy and decision makers to consider all these factors in the round when 
assessing proposals for action.

Key Commitment

We will ensure that our decision making takes full account of the environmental, social, 
human, physical and financial assets described in this strategy. We will endeavour to ensure 
that our decisions and actions grow these assets sustainably, and where that is not possible, 
we will attempt to offset any negative impact through action elsewhere, for the health and 
wellbeing of all Cumbria’s communities. 

Page  60



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

7

The Current Position

Clearly these various assets are not evenly distributed throughout our County. Many parts of 
Cumbria have a natural environment second to none; however some of our urban areas suffer from 
poor air quality. There are clear pockets of deprivation linked to low income and skills, particularly in 
some urban areas, whereas it is often our more rural areas that have difficulty accessing goods and 
services. Such differences in poverty, power and resources, exposure to health damaging 
environments, and opportunities in early life are the main drivers of health inequalities. Unhealthy 
behaviour such as smoking, inactivity, violence and poor diet is more common in communities that 
have less access to and control over these assets. 

The correlation between deprivation and health can clearly be illustrated by comparing the 
geography of multiple deprivation in Cumbria with the geography of health deprivation and 
disability, as shown in the maps below.

It is clear from the maps above that for many of the indicators that combine to create the Index of 
Multiple Deprivation (particularly those focused on income, employment and skills), Cumbria’s most 
challenged areas are urban and more generally along the west coast of the county. However there 
are two important caveats to this statement. Firstly, the Index of Multiple Deprivation is more useful 
in looking at urban areas, where deprivation is more likely to be similar in any given location; in 
larger rural geographies there is more likely to be a mixture of relative deprivation and relative 
affluence leading to a more average score overall and potentially masking rural deprivation. 
Secondly, some of the indicators used tell a very different story: the maps below illustrate that for 
access to housing and services, and for the living environment domain (which is dominated by 
indicators of housing quality including whether houses are centrally heated), it is Cumbria’s rural 
areas that face the greatest challenges. 

Page  61



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

8

This significant variation across Cumbria indicates that the priorities for tackling the wider 
determinants of poor health and wellbeing will necessarily be different in different parts of the 
county. While there are some actions that can and should be taken at a county-wide level, it will be 

Page  62



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

9

particularly important to identify priorities and actions within the overall framework of this strategy 
at a District and even more local community level.

Page  63



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

10

Vision for a Healthier Cumbria

Building on the five capitals and taking inspiration from the World Health Organization’s Healthy 
Cities model, the future for a healthier Cumbria can be seen as having five key components:

Planet: Cumbria’s natural environment, from our world-class landscapes to the centre of our 
towns, will be protected and enhanced. Sustainability will be at the heart of future 
development and Cumbria will reduce its ecological footprint even as it develops 
economically.

People: Everyone in Cumbria will have the opportunity to develop and use their skills and 
talents in a way that recognises the value they bring to society and to enjoy a varied and 
fulfilling life.

Participation: Cumbrian communities will be strong, resilient and inclusive, with well-
developed social networks and widespread engagement with community life.

Place: Cumbria’s physical infrastructure will promote health and wellbeing, with good quality 
housing, a high quality urban environment and good access to the services needed for a 
healthy lifestyle.

Prosperity: Cumbria’s economy will develop sustainably, with growth particularly focused on 
tackling poverty and providing quality employment for all.

Page  64



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

11

Planet: Growing our Natural Assets

The global ecosystem is not just the environment in which we live: it is the basis of our society and 
our economy. A range of natural resources such as land, water, air, timber and animals, and natural 
processes such as the water cycle and climate regulation, influence our health. But they have to be 
utilised sustainably in order to ensure that people can have a good quality of life today and to avoid 
damaging the prospects of future generations.

In the context of this public health strategy, the key aspects of our natural resources that need to be 
addressed are as follows:

 Improving the quality of and access to green space 
 Promoting biodiversity and wildlife habitats 
 Climate change 
 Air quality 
 Waste reduction

Improving the quality of and access to green space

Cumbria has a plethora of diverse green and blue spaces, from rugged high open fells, rolling 
farmland, woodland, coastal plains and beaches, with a variety of village, town and city parks, 
recreation grounds, community gardens, cemeteries and churchyards.  These spaces play a vital role 
in the in the health and wellbeing of local communities and provide valuable ecosystem services such 
as food, fuel and flood management. 

Green and blue space has many public health benefits. Often free to access, it promotes physical 
activity through providing a pleasant environment for walking, running, cycling and recreational 
activities, improving health and mental wellbeing. Urban green spaces provide pleasant areas to 
relax and socialise, promoting greater levels of social activity and stronger neighbourhood 
relationships. This can help in combatting isolation and loneliness.  Spending time in green spaces 
has been shown to produce levels and patterns of chemicals in the brain associated with low stress 
and positive impacts on blood pressure. 

Although Cumbria is rich in green and blue space it is vital to maintain and where necessary improve 
its quality, its distribution and access to it. Currently, some people are disadvantaged in terms of the 
benefits they can derive from it, either through financial circumstances, the area they live in or 
access to transport.

Key Aim
To protect and enhance Cumbria’s green and blue spaces, ensuring that everyone in the 
County has good access to a high quality natural environment.

Promoting biodiversity and wildlife habitats

There is an increasing amount of evidence that connections with nature and other forms of life can 
have a significant beneficial impact on health and wellbeing. Consequently it is important for public 
health to plan positively for the creation, protection and enhancement of biodiversity and wildlife 
habitats.

Page  65



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

12

We need to develop the core of a county-wide Nature Recovery Network, so we can plan for and 
encourage wildlife and habitats back into our towns, countryside and coastline through initiatives 
such as wildlife-friendly gardens, green roofs, tree planting, species-rich roadside verges and marine 
protection. This will enable habitats to spread, wildlife to flourish and increase the number of people 
who can benefit.   

One of the key areas for promoting and safeguarding biodiversity and wildlife habitats will be 
through engagement with the next generation of young people and children.  Cumbria will continue 
to develop its work with a wide spectrum of conservation and farming groups and the health sector 
to provide support for schools and community groups to make it easier to learn outdoors and to visit 
natural places through awards and initiatives run by those such as the John Muir Trust and Forest 
Schools.   

Key Aim

To promote Cumbria’s biodiversity through protection and enhancement of a wide variety of 
wildlife habitats.

Tackling climate change 

Climate change is already a threat to Cumbria, and in the long term is one of the greatest threats to 
public health globally.  Within Cumbria, climate change is likely to have a range of impacts.  We can 
expect to see wetter winters, hotter, drier summers, rising sea levels and a greater likelihood of 
extreme weather events.  The severe floods of 2005, 2009 and Storm Desmond in 2015 were 
consistent with predictions for climate change and caused significant disruption and damage.  In 
2010, the north west experienced its driest January to June since 1929, resulting in low reservoir 
levels and hosepipe bans across north west England, affecting six million consumers.   These extreme 
weather events can present an immediate threat to life, property and health and can also have a 
long term physical, emotional and financial impact on lives, with significant health consequences.

Obviously Cumbria cannot tackle climate change alone – this is a global problem.  However it is 
important for us to take action locally both to reduce our contribution to the problem and to 
mitigate the inevitable impacts.  In 2010 the Lake District National Park was one of the first areas to 
set itself a local carbon budget and to monitor annual reductions – something that could be valuably 
adopted in the whole of Cumbria. The 2018 report of the International Panel on Climate Change 
recommended that in order to limit global climate change to 1.5oC  the world should reduce net 
carbon emissions by 45% by 2030 and be carbon neutral by 2050. There is no reason why Cumbria 
should be exempt from timescales of this sort – and indeed why we should not seek to go further, 
faster.

The health of Cumbria’s green space and its associated biodiversity and wildlife habitats will help to 
build resilience to counter the extreme weather associated with climate change.  There is an 
opportunity to do more on green and blue space infrastructure through the local planning system, 
including providing urban cooling, local flood risk management, carbon sequestration and local 
access to shady outdoor space through planting more trees.

Key Aim
To become a “carbon neutral” County and to mitigate the likely impact of existing climate 
change.

Page  66



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

13

Prevention

Preparing for reuse

Recycling

 Other recovery

Disposal

O
rd

er
 o

f 
pr

ef
er

en
ce

Air quality

The impact on health of poor air quality can be significant and goes beyond respiratory health.  People 
who live in poorer areas are often exposed to higher levels of air pollution and may suffer greater 
negative impacts.  As a mainly rural county, Cumbria is generally favoured with very good air quality: 
the proportion of mortality attributable to particulate matter air pollution in Cumbria is 3.82%, lower 
than the national figure of 4.72%. Only Carlisle and South Lakeland have declared any Air Quality 
Management Areas (AQMAs).  These are places where national air quality objectives are not likely to 
be achieved.  Those in Cumbria have all been declared as a consequence of raised levels of nitrogen 
dioxide (NO2), primarily due to emissions from road transport. 

However, several other areas in Cumbria have levels of air pollution approaching threshold levels and 
there are concerns that levels may be rising, with the popularity of biomass boilers, wood-burning 
stoves and solid fuel use in rural, off-grid areas.  For PM2.5 (particulate of less than 2.5 microns) in 
particular, there is no safe level and it has been estimated that in 2010 the deaths of 195 people in 
Cumbria were attributable to PM2.5.

Action to address the causes and mitigate the consequences of air pollution needs to be taken at all 
levels of society from Government through to the individual, and these actions will vary depending 
on the most important influences over air quality at a local level.  There is often a tension between a 
desire for good air quality and economic development objectives, which can also improve health. 
Major new housing projects, industrial and commercial developments and roads can all impact on air 
quality either through direct emissions or through increasing traffic levels.  

Improving air quality requires both large systemic changes to reduce industrial emissions and traffic 
and to encourage the use of less polluting vehicles, and action at community level to change 
behaviours.  Where local people have been part of decisions made about interventions, they are 
more likely to be engaged and thus change their behaviour.  Communities that better understand air 
pollution can become powerful advocates for action and improvement in their local area.

Key Aim
To improve air quality in Cumbria through action on transport, industrial, agricultural and 
domestic emissions. 

Waste reduction

Cumbrians produce almost 250,000 tonnes of rubbish every 
year. Reducing the amount of waste generated not only 
reduces the environmental impact and financial burden to local 
authorities, but often leads to increased household disposable 
income, healthier dietary habits and improved well-being.  
Cumbria generates 50,000 tonnes of garden waste, much of 
which could be composted at home, encouraging physical 
activity and fresh air.  An equivalent of £50 of food is thrown 
away per household each month.  Better portion planning can 
reduce waste and reduce grocery bills, freeing up money to 
spend on activities that promote health and well-being.  

Page  67



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

14

Key Aim
To reduce the amount of waste produced in Cumbria through reduced material use, 
promoting greater product re-use, and improving recycling rates. 

Page  68



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

15

People: Nurturing our Human Assets

The assets within our communities relate to the people’s skills, knowledge and experience the things 
they draw on every day in living and contributing to society.  This includes their capacity for things 
like empathy, passion and joy and also their intellectual output such as art and other cultural 
expressions.  We can nurture our human assets by:

 Promoting education, skills and lifelong learning
 Ensuring meaningful and high quality occupations for all
 Ensuring access to adequate leisure opportunities
 Promoting engagement with arts and culture
 Tackling discrimination and exploitation

Promoting education, skills and lifelong learning

There is a direct correlation between the areas of the County with the lowest educational attainment 
and skills levels, unemployment and poor health. Supporting people to access employment through 
action to improve skills is therefore a critical part of this strategy.  In addition, lifelong learning has 
health benefits that go beyond the impact on employment: learning for its own sake is positive for 
mental wellbeing.

Improving the skills of the population to enable employers and the economy to access the workforce 
they require, both through education and through adult skills training and re-skilling, will be a critical 
part of the people strand of the Local Industrial Strategy (LIS), but will also play a major part in the 
other strands.

Cumbria faces a number of challenges in this area:

 There is a small pool of residents with graduate level qualifications, who are spread across separate 
labour markets;

 The percent of population with no qualifications, at 15.3% is higher than the national average, with 
areas of the coastal belt as high as 17.6%;

 Very strong apprenticeship performance, however there are emerging challenges in maintaining 
this, mirroring the national reduction in starts.

In developing the skills aspect of the Local Industrial Strategy, the Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) 
has developed a series of sector skills plans outlining the skills challenges and shared areas for 
development in: Advanced Manufacturing; Nuclear; Health and Care; Construction; Logistics; Visitor 
Economy; Rural; Professional Services; Cultural and Creative Industries.  The LEP has now established 
with partners a Careers Strategy for Cumbria that will drive improvements in education and business 
links, enthusing our young people about the opportunities available in Cumbria and enhancing 
examples of high quality partnership work between employers and education institutions.  This 
approach will ensure that young people are encouraged to aspire from an early age and have a clear 
view of the careers available to them, so that they can plan their education accordingly.  This 
approach when tested elsewhere delivered a significant improvement in attainment.

Work will be undertaken with education and training partners to develop an extended curriculum 
that both meets the needs of industry and the needs of residents, ensuring that there is choice 
available and a range of support to ensure that those who find accessing skills provision difficult are 
able to do so, securing the inclusive growth aspiration within the LIS. 

Page  69



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

16

Key Aim 
To reduce disparities in educational attainment and to increase the proportion of the 
workforce with higher level skills and qualifications.

Ensuring meaningful and high quality occupations for all

An occupation that gives life a sense of purpose and value is an essential part of positive wellbeing. 
For many people this will of course come in the form of employment, which also brings the economic 
resources necessary for good health.  However other forms of occupation, such as volunteering or 
bringing up a family, can be just as powerful for improved wellbeing and should not be ignored as a 
way of bringing this purpose and value to life. 

In general, having a job is better for health than not having one, but poor quality jobs can be 
damaging to health.  High quality employment will provide people with security, a good sense of job 
control and a reasonable balance between the effort they have to put in and the reward (financial or 
otherwise) that they get in return.  Where these factors are not present, health is more likely to 
suffer. 

It is recognised that currently not everybody is benefitting from Cumbria’s economic prosperity with 
the wealthiest parts of the county not being those with the highest earnings and those areas with the 
highest weekly earnings experience higher rates of unemployment, deprivation, low skills and poor 
health.  Equally, there is a gap in high quality, flexible/part time jobs that allow people to transition 
back into work around bringing up a family, or other caring responsibilities.

The Local Industrial Strategy has therefore identified the need to tackle worklessness and under 
employment with a more coherent employability and social cohesion offer. This will be a co-
ordinated multi-agency programme delivered at a local and potentially community-level, based on 
experiences gained in tackling inter-generational worklessness in other areas. This approach could 
bring around 4,500 people back into the workforce, helping to address labour supply issues and 
improve people’s quality of life and wellbeing.

Key Aim 
To ensure that everyone in Cumbria has the opportunity for high quality employment or 
other meaningful activity as part of their daily life.

Ensuring access to adequate leisure opportunities

People’s leisure helps shape their mental and physical health.  The health benefits include 
opportunities to be active, through sport and other physical activities, but also to be creative and to 
engage with friends, which can promote mental well-being.  Not only are hobbies fun, but they can 
refresh the mind and body and assist one in improving self-esteem, staying healthy, active and 
happy.  Taking part in leisure activities as a family is also beneficial for children because the process 
helps to model healthy ways to handle stress and emotions.  Participating in leisure activities 
regularly reduces depression: in fact, just thinking about past outdoor recreation experiences can 
often improve one’s mood.

Leisure is often referred to as “free time”, because leisure time is free from compulsory activities 
such as employment, running a business, household chores, education and other such day-to-day 
activities.  People need both enough time for leisure and access to a range of leisure opportunities, 

Page  70



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

17

whether formal or informal.   Leisure provides people with the chance to find balance in their life, it 
also puts them in control of how they spend their time.  People on low incomes are likely to have less 
control over their free time, have less access to recreational space and have less disposable income 
to spend on leisure. 

Key Aim 
To ensure that all communities in Cumbria have good access to a wide range of leisure 
opportunities, including promoting improved availability and affordability of leisure options.

Promoting engagement with arts and culture

It is widely recognised that experiencing arts and culture can create a sense of wellbeing and 
transform quality of life for individuals and communities.  The report Creative Health: the Arts for 
Health and Wellbeing, prepared by The All Party Parliamentary Group (APPG) for arts, health and 
wellbeing, details various ways in which the arts can enable people to enjoy better health and quality 
of life. It sets out the significant contribution that arts and culture can make to keeping people and 
communities healthy and happy: that arts engagement can improve mental health, help with the 
management of long term health conditions, promote healthy ageing, tackle health inequalities and 
begin to address obesity. It makes a powerful case for the arts and culture to contribute to the wider 
health and social care agenda helping people to live healthier lives.

Cumbria has a rich, diverse cultural and arts offer: a ‘cultural landscape’ shaped by the area and its 
arts and cultural heritage.  People take part in everyday creativity like music, drawing, painting, film 
making, photography, pottery, singing and crafts.  Many attend cultural events in community spaces, 
theatres, galleries, heritage sites, libraries, museums, venues, at outdoor locations and in our world 
heritage sited and spectacular landscapes.  However it is recognised there are inequalities in the level 
of cultural and arts engagement and participation across Cumbria.  For some residents access to the 
arts is limited by age, transport, rurality, disability or low income.  Our ambition is for Cumbria to be 
a county that is recognised for the part played in making the arts and culture central to the health 
and wellbeing of its communities, and to promote awareness of the range and quality of 
opportunities that exist for people to be creative, to participate and enjoy the arts and culture. 

Key Aim 
To encourage a wide range of high quality opportunities to participate in and engage with 
the arts and culture, and to enable great art and culture for everyone so that participation 
and engagement in the arts is not dependent on where people live or their social, 
educational or financial circumstances.

Tackling discrimination and exploitation

Discrimination is when a person is treated worse than another person on account of an aspect of 
their identity.  Discrimination can take place at work, in the community, when travelling, when 
accessing public services, or as a consumer.  Groups with a history of discrimination will often be 
disproportionately affected by poorer educational, health and employment outcomes, more likely to 
be in the children care system and later in the criminal justice system and are likely to have less voice 
in local democracy.

Many people who have experienced discrimination will have been victims of harassment, 
victimisation or a hate crime.  In the wake of the MeToo movement there has been a greater 

Page  71



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

18

spotlight on sexual harassment and its damaging impact.  Hate crimes are any offence where the 
victim perceives themselves to have been targeted on the grounds of their identity. In Cumbria there 
are over 300 reported hate incidents per year.  Over 60% of all hate crimes in Cumbria are racist, 
reflecting the national trend, but there are a number of disablist, homophobic and transphobic hate 
crimes. 

Domestic abuse has an overwhelming impact on women and girls and the sexist element of the 
violence and coercion needs to be treated on a par with the racist and homophobic elements in hate 
crime.

Exploitation in the forms of human trafficking, modern slavery and child sexual exploitation are 
growing concerns across the country as a whole and Cumbria is not immune to this trend.  The 
agriculture and hospitality sectors are, nationally, key focal points for modern slavery and with these 
playing such a large part in the Cumbrian economy it would be naïve to think that it could not 
happen here. 

Cumbria faces some key challenges in tackling discrimination and exploitation, including:

 Sex: Reducing number of women who are victims of domestic abuse; reducing numbers of 
women who are given custodial sentences; reducing occupational gender segregation so more 
women go into male dominated jobs and vice versa; reducing the gender pay gap; greater 
participation in physical activity compared to males; raising awareness of sexual harassment; 
support to community level women’s groups to have a greater voice in public life, including 
female political representation.

 Transgender: Developing a socially inclusive approach that supports people identifying as 
transgender in education, employment and community life; working regionally to increase access 
to NHS services for people seeking medically to undergo gender reassignment.

 Race: Successful community integration, reduction in hate crime, effective access to English 
language support and culturally responsive public services.

 Disability: Greater accessibility in terms of transport, buildings, infrastructure and countryside; 
employers understanding reasonable adjustments; monitoring impact of welfare reforms on 
disabled claimants; raising awareness of disability hate crime.  

 Sexual orientation: Helping to develop a vibrant LGB community through Cumbria Pride and 
other local activities; using the Stonewall national employer champions standard to promote LGB 
equality at work; support health and social care to consider aging well for people in same sex 
relationships. 

Key Aim 
To promote equality and diversity within Cumbria, to reduce people’s experiences of 
discrimination, and to identify and tackle instances of exploitation within the County.

Page  72



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

19

Participation: Building Social Connections

Social capital refers to the connections between people and to the various groups, institutions and 
social norms that help to create, foster and regulate these connections.  This can include informal 
social networks involving family and friends, voluntary and community organisations and more 
formal institutions such as workplaces, trade unions, faith groups and governmental organisations.  It 
also includes cultural norms – shared expectations about how society works – that are often 
unspoken but are critical to whether people trust each other and work well together.

Key aspects of social capital for this public health strategy are as follows:

 Building stronger communities
 Promoting social inclusion
 Building safer communities, including tackling crime and antisocial behaviour

Building stronger communities

Communities with strong informal networks and high levels of trust between individuals are believed 
to be more resilient and local people have less need to make use of formal support services because 
neighbours keep an eye out for each other and informal community organisations provide local social 
activities and services.

Cumbria is often described as having strong communities and this is reflected in the fact that areas of 
Cumbria frequently feature in national reports of the “best” areas to live in the UK.  There are many 
examples of Cumbria’s communities developing their own activities and services– community 
transport schemes, sports clubs, library books in community pubs and good neighbour schemes – 
enabling individuals to connect with other people and access the services they need.  Strong 
communities support a healthy democracy, encouraging people to take an interest in their local area 
and help to shape public services to meet local need.

However, even the strongest communities sometimes benefit from access to support and advice (for 
example, on how to access funding for community activities).  Equally, areas where levels of social 
capital are not already high, for example where there is significant turnover of population, need 
additional support to develop it, often over a number of years. 

Community Development staff, local infrastructure organisations and local funders all play an 
important background role in enabling Cumbria’s communities to organise and flourish. Communities 
of interest also play an important role in building social capital.  People often seek support from 
people with similar interests (for example, through sports clubs), at a similar life stage (groups for 
new parents) or similar beliefs (faith groups).

Links between different communities, for example across geographies, age groups or cultural groups, 
help to develop understanding and build tolerance and community cohesion.

Cumbria’s new Local Industrial Strategy also recognises the role of community as vital to achieving its 
ambition of creating an inclusive economy.  The Strategy builds upon the idea that for people to be 
healthy and to be successful they need to feel a part of an established and integrated community. 

Page  73



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

20

Key Aim 
To support communities to thrive, with a strong and diverse informal and third sector, good 
levels of community participation, and a sense of having control and influence over the 
factors that matter most to them.

Promoting social inclusion

Where individuals or groups find themselves isolated, whether because of factors such as geographic 
distance or because of things like language barriers or competing social norms, the impact on health 
can be significant.  Loneliness has been identified as a significant public health issue, with some 
studies suggesting that the size of the impact could be similar to smoking 15 cigarettes a day.

Social isolation can arise out of major life changes that remove a person’s access to their friends, 
family, communities and colleagues.  This can include family breakdown, bereavement, being taken 
into care (as a child or later in life) or losing a job or becoming homeless. Low levels of geographic 
mobility in Cumbria can mean that people coming into the area may struggle to make social 
connections and build a friendship network, while other people who may feel they ‘do not fit in’ 
could feel particular effects of exclusion that would not be the case in more urban areas. 

Structural changes to the way we live can also feed social isolation.  With people more likely to live in 
single households or dispersed families, as well as greater online forms of interpersonal contact, it is 
increasingly possible for people to have few friends or people they can rely on in an emergency.  This 
can have implications for emotional health and wellbeing, resilience in the face of adverse events 
and greater sense of insecurity. Digitalisation also brings other vulnerabilities such as cyber-crime, 
online harassment and trolling, which can particularly impact on people who are already isolated.  On 
the other hand social media enables connections.

Certain demographic sections of the population are particularly vulnerable to isolation – LGBT people 
in some rural areas, women above 50 (especially where they are economically inactive, live alone, no 
longer have children in the household), young males with mental health conditions, care leavers, 
older people in single person households, BME people who have moved to Cumbria and have limited 
access to local groups from a similar ethnic heritage, disabled people who experience barriers to 
access to work, education, transport or social access, people with learning disabilities who are more 
likely to be single and report loneliness.

Key Aim 
To tackle loneliness and social isolation by providing opportunities to help build social 
connections and engagement particularly for those identified as most vulnerable. 

Building safer communities, including tackling crime and antisocial 
behaviour

Feeling safe is a bedrock of good health, to the extent that the fear of crime has a bigger impact on 
health than the actual risk of being a victim of crime.  How safe we feel at home, at work and in our 
neighbourhood can influence our social habits.  Home (and work) is where we might spend a large 
amount of time so it is important to feel safe and secure there.  Feeling part of the community in 
which we live is also just as important and can add to our feeling of stability.  When we feel safe, we 
find it easier to relax and do all the things that comfort us.  If we are feeling unsafe then we may also 
feel anxious, depressed or frightened, which can have a direct impact on our health.  It can also have 

Page  74



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

21

an indirect impact whereby we change our behaviour because we are concerned for our safety.  This 
shows that feeling safe is of paramount importance to our wellbeing and our health.

Cumbria remains one of the safest places to live in England and Wales and feelings of safety are 
generally high.  Cumbria Constabulary is recognised by Her Majesty’s Inspector of Constabulary and 
Fire & Rescue Services (HMICFRS) as a good performing force and for keeping people safe.

However, Cumbria is witnessing an increase in levels of organised crime and the misery this brings on 
communities through drugs, violence and the exploitation of the vulnerable.  In addition, rural 
isolation presents challenges in identifying vulnerable victims of domestic and sexual abuse.  
Technology is also changing how the public interacts with the world and each other, changing culture 
and expectations and criminal use of the internet. 

The development of local community based hubs brings together several partner organisations, 
including the police and District Councils, to combine resources and expertise, to strengthen capacity 
and build a strong, secure, effective infrastructure to deal with community problems at a local level, 
increasing public confidence and feelings of safety.

Key Aim 
To reduce crime and antisocial behaviour and to ensure that people in Cumbria retain low 
levels of fear of crime across the whole County.

 

Page  75



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

22

Place: Improving physical assets

It is important that we develop our physical assets (houses, buildings, transport ) in a way that is 
sustainable, minimising the use of natural resources and maximising the use of human skills and 
ingenuity.  The key assets of place for this strategy are as follows:

 Promoting healthy town and country planning
 Developing a sustainable transport system
 Ensuring high quality and safe housing
 Access to healthy food

Promoting healthy town and country planning

The planning system has a very significant impact on the built environment in which people live and 
work.  It can play an important role in facilitating social interaction and creating healthy, inclusive 
communities.  Planning functions are an important lever to shape the natural and built environment, 
which can contribute to positive health outcomes through green spaces, housing, transport and our 
high streets and town centres – not forgetting public health protection – air, noise and light 
pollution.  Promoting healthy and safe communities is a requirement of the revised National Planning 
Policy Framework (NPPF) which further states that planning policies and decisions should aim to 
achieve “healthy, inclusive and safe places”.  It is therefore critical that the planning system is active 
in working towards improving health and wellbeing as a key priority.

In Cumbria, the six District Councils and the National Parks are the main planning authorities, with 
the County Council being the lead for infrastructure planning, highways, minerals and waste and 
flood and development management.  Partnership working across tiers and organisations is 
therefore key to influencing and designing healthy infrastructure.  

With multiple planning authorities in Cumbria, inevitably there are several different approaches to 
building health into planning objectives.  As part of the World Health Organization Healthy Cities 
Network, Carlisle has included health as an explicit feature within their adopted local plan via a 
strategic policy on ‘Healthy and thriving communities’.  Other Districts have adopted specific policies 
with positive health benefits via environmental or housing policy.  The opportunity exists to take a 
joint approach to maximising the health benefits of the planning system.

Key Aim 
To ensure that planning authorities across Cumbria develop and implement policy in support 
of this strategy, including focusing on active transport, green space, quality housing, 
availability of healthy food, carbon reduction and creation of employment opportunities. 

Developing a sustainable travel and transport system

The transport system is critical to enabling people to access goods and services that are important 
for health and wellbeing, to encouraging physical activity through promoting regular walking or 
cycling and to tackling climate change and improving air quality. 

Cumbria is a large rural county with many settlements that are not large enough to sustain a wide 
variety of services.  Many people therefore have to travel significant distances to access services.  For 
those with a car this may not prove too problematic.  At the time of the 2011 Census, 21.4% of 

Page  76



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

23

households in Cumbria did not have access to a car, a lower rate than the average for England 
(25.8%). However those without access to a car (particularly the young, the old and those who 
cannot afford one) and who therefore rely on public transport, can face significant challenges. 

The Local Industrial Strategy highlights the impacts of Cumbria’s aging public transport which is 
insufficient to meet the population’s needs.  Poor rail connections, particularly from coastal towns 
and a reduction in bus services, particularly in rural areas can lead to social isolation and 
worklessness.

Communities risk isolation if they do not have passenger transport that is:

Available: the passenger transport network should be within easy reach of where people live 
and take them to and from the places they want to go at times and frequencies that 
correspond to patterns of social and working life. People also need to be kept informed of 
the services that are available;
Accessible: vehicles, stops and interchanges (and the walking routes to and from these) must 
be designed in such a way that, as far as possible, anyone can use them without difficulty;
Affordable: people should not be 'priced out' of using passenger transport because of high 
fares and should be able to easily find the right ticket for them;
Acceptable: people should feel that passenger transport is something that is equipped to 
meet their needs as well as comfortable, safe and convenient.

The physical transport infrastructure in 
Cumbria (in common with the rest of the 
country) remains very focused on cars, at the 
expense of more active forms of transport such 
as walking and cycling.

To promote health and a more sustainable 
environment, the well-known road user 
hierarchy (right) needs to move from rhetoric 
to reality. In addition, there is a need to 
encourage a greater uptake of new electric and 
other alternative fuel vehicles in order to 
reduce transport emissions, improving air 
quality and helping to tackle climate change. 

Key Aim 
To develop the physical transport infrastructure to make it low carbon and more active, 
including making Cumbria a great place to walk, cycle, and use electric vehicles, and to 
ensure that the public transport system in Cumbria provides a viable alternative to car 
ownership, particularly for the most rural communities.

Ensuring high quality and safe housing

In Cumbria the median house price is just under £145,000, well below the national average of 
£186,000.  However, in certain parts of the County, such as the Lake District, prices far exceed the 
national average and affordability is a major problem – house prices can be more than ten times local 
incomes.  However, the County also contains large areas (mainly urban) of deprivation.  In response 

Page  77



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

24

there has been significant activity around housing to ensure that all people have access to affordable, 
safe and modern standard of housing which supports a healthy lifestyle. The local industrial strategy 
reports that in all six districts house building is above Cumbria’s required level. 

The Cumbria Housing Group has identified three priorities for improved housing across Cumbria:

Priority 1 - Housing Growth, Affordability and Community Sustainability. Housing is a cornerstone 
of Cumbria’s economic ambitions. Investment and growth will bring many more people into the 
County and this means that affordable housing, including in the social rental sector, is needed for 
employees and to enable young people to take up jobs locally.  It also means that high quality market 
housing is needed to attract skilled people to come and work in Cumbria, generating wealth and 
spending to sustain and develop our local services and town centres. 

Priority 2 - Housing Regeneration: Regenerating our poorest housing and town centres will improve 
the quality of housing and increase choice and demand in these areas.  We want to bring empty 
homes back into beneficial use, improve the energy efficiency of homes and improve standards in 
the private rental market.  We also want mechanisms established to ensure that second 
homes/holiday homes do not dominate local housing markets to help sustain our communities, 
particularly in rural areas. 

Priority 3 - Supporting Independent Living. Poor quality neighbourhoods and housing conditions and 
at its extreme, homelessness, can contribute to a range of health conditions.  These all have a long-
term impact on particularly vulnerable people, with consequential impacts for acute hospital 
services, adult social care and children and young people’s life chances and employment prospects 
because of the effect on learning and education.  It is therefore crucial to deliver better-designed 
housing that can be easily adapted to meet the life changes of occupiers to enable them to live 
independently.  

Key Aim 
To improve the housing stock across Cumbria, ensuring that everyone has access to safe, 
warm, affordable housing, and that new housing supports wider aims including carbon 
reduction, climate change resilience, energy security, and adaptability.

Access to healthy food

The food system is a vast and complex global infrastructure and the choices that people make are 
heavily influenced by availability, price, advertising and many other factors besides taste preference.  
One in four children starting school in Cumbria are not a healthy weight.  However, more children 
from deprived areas are overweight or obese and the differences between low income and high 
income areas is growing every year.  

Dietary habits are changing across Cumbria, mirroring national and global trends.  Many households 
have two working parents and due to time pressure, stress, lack of control over working times and 
greater availability and affordability of fast food, children are eating less home cooked food.  Meals 
eaten outside the home tend to be associated with higher intake of sugar, salt, fat and salt and 
portion size tends to be bigger.

Ensuring good access to healthy food, healthy food production locally, supported by a range of 
community food activities is vital in creating healthy places.  Several parts of Cumbria are advancing 

Page  78



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

25

work around the food agenda through healthy options awards, allotments and community food 
projects. 

Exposure to marketing of high fat, high sugar processed food influences children’s preferences and 
eating habits. Children who engage with food brands online are more likely to consume unhealthy 
food.  Children and young people that have more screen time, are more likely to be exposed to food 
advertising through you tube adds, vlogs and online games.
 

Key Aim 
To promote a vibrant and diverse food economy, with local communities having access to a 
range of healthy and affordable food options, and to reduce waste and the ecological 
footprint of the local food system. 

Page  79



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

26

Prosperity:  Fair and inclusive growth of our financial assets

Financial growth and the distribution of financial assets is most commonly considered and pursued as 
a goal of social and economic policy.  There is a strong association between wealth and health, with 
more affluent people experiencing greater control over their life, greater life opportunities, less 
exposure to health damaging environments and greater healthy life expectancy.  Societies with a 
large difference in wealth between communities have poorer health overall.  Therefore reducing 
wealth inequalities improves the health of all members of society.  For the purposes of this public 
health strategy, the key aspects of financial capital are as follows:

 Reducing income inequalities
 Promoting sustainable economic development

Reducing income inequalities

Because wealth and health are so inexorably linked, tackling health inequalities is dependent on 
reducing income inequalities.  For Cumbria, the focus is on lifting incomes at the bottom of the 
income scale – ‘levelling up’ – rather than by redistribution from the most affluent, which is mostly 
outside the powers of Cumbrian agencies.

Results can be achieved through a two-pronged approach.  The first is to alleviate short term issues 
causing poverty and the second is to focus on the longer term issues that restrict life chances.

Some of challenges around alleviation are linked to low income households. These include changes to 
benefits, stagnant wages, a culture of low aspiration and a lack of joined up advice services which are 
easily accessible. There are also challenges around consumer culture and society’s need for new and 
more expensive, fashionable products that put more pressure on incomes. In rural areas, there are 
additional costs relating to transportation and fuel poverty, which eat into household budgets. It is 
therefore important that public services working with people on low incomes offer advice and support 
on financial management.

In the longer term, it is crucial that the education, skills and employment agenda is focused on 
supporting people from low income households.  This includes provision of high quality child care in 
areas of multiple deprivation, reducing the disadvantage gap for pre-school and at key stages up to 
GCSE, increasing the number of people from low income backgrounds into further and higher 
education and increasing opportunities for people from low income backgrounds to benefit from the 
wide range of training available.  

The role of the skills system is also vital in addressing the skills gap for people of working age and in 
terms of providing opportunities for older people who wish to stay economically active.

Key Aim 
To reduce levels of poverty and income insecurity through support to vulnerable groups and 
a focus on supporting people into high quality employment.

Promoting sustainable economic development

When it has the right focus, economic development can be the key to unlocking several of the other 
themes of this strategy and can bring significant public health improvements.  Good economic 

Page  80



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

27

development will focus on benefiting existing residents, particularly those with low quality and/or 
low paid jobs, through creation of jobs matched to local skills and through up-skilling local residents 
to take on the available jobs.  Economic development that seeks mainly to attract existing affluent 
populations to move into the County may boost economic statistics, but it will do so alongside 
widening inequalities within the County. 

In Cumbria, the main focus for 
sustainable economic development is 
the Local Industrial Strategy. This is 
built on two key platforms: 

 Inclusive Growth: Prosperity for All
 Productivity: Improving all sectors 

and reducing West/East disparities.

However, Cumbria faces a number of 
challenges in achieving these goals. 
Productivity in Cumbria is below 
average across most sectors.  As 
described in the chapter on skills, we 
have a small pool of residents with 
graduate level qualifications and a high 
proportion of people with no qualifications.  Crucially, we have a declining working age population, 
with a net outward migration of 18-24 year olds. 

Key Aim 
To ensure that economic development supports health and wellbeing and tackles 
inequalities by focusing opportunities on the most disadvantaged parts of Cumbria.

Page  81



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

28

Key Measures of Progress

[DN – still being developed, further work required]

Planet

Theme Indicator Geographic 
coverage

Source Further information Baseline England/
comparator

Green Space Utilisation of outdoor space for 
exercise/health reasons

County PHOF Indicator 1.16
Mar 2015 – Feb 2016

15.8% 17.9%

Biodiversity
Climate Change Net Carbon emissions New indicator to be 

developed
Baseline to be 
established

Air Quality Combined Air Quality Index LSOA IMD Living Environment 
domain: Air Quality 
Indicator.  NOT 
REGULARLY UPDATED.

n/a n/a

Air pollution: fine particulate matter District/County PHOF Annual
2016

5.8 mean 
µg/m3

9.3 mean 
µg/m3

Waste

People

Theme Indicator Geographic 
coverage

Source Further information Baseline England/ 
comparator

Education, 
skills & lifelong 
learning 

An increase in the proportion of people in 
Cumbria aged 16-64 years with skill level 2 
or above (CPDP measure M3.3)

County/district Annual Population 
Survey

Annual
Jan ’17 – Dec ‘17

75%

P
age  82



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

29

An increase in Apprenticeship starts 
delivered in Cumbria (CPDP measure M3.4)

County CCC Annual – academic 
year

TBC

Meaningful 
Occupations

An increase in the employment rate of 16-
64 year olds (CPDP measure M3.1)

County/district Annual Population 
Survey

Annual 
Jan ‘17 – Dec ‘17

78.1%

The proportion of 16-17 year olds Not in 
Employment, Education and Training to be 
3.75% or lower for 2018/19 (CPDP measure 
M2.6)

County/district Inspira Quarterly 
March 2018

3.8% 5.6%

% of people who are on permanent 
contracts (or on temporary contracts and 
not seeking permanent employment), who 
earn more than 2/3 of the UK median wage, 
and are not overworked (i.e. <49 hours a 
week), or underworked (unwillingly working 
part-time)

County Labour Force 
Survey/Thriving 
Places Index

Access to 
Leisure
Arts and 
Culture
Discrimination 
and 
Exploitation

Hate crime statistics available from 
Cumbria Constabulary (Crime & Community 
Safety Strategic Assessment).  Annual.

Participation

Theme Indicator Geographic 
coverage

Source Further information Baseline England/ 
comparator

Stronger 
communities

Indices of Deprivation – overall deprivation LSOA IMD NOT REGULARLY 
UPDATED

n/a n/a

P
age  83



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

30

Social inclusion Social isolation: proportion of Adult Social 
Care users who have as much social contact 
as they would like

County PHOF/Adult Social 
Care Survey

Annual
2017/18

51.4% 46.0%

Barriers to Housing and 
Services/Geographical Barriers to Services

LSOA IMD NOT REGULARLY 
UPDATED

n/a n/a

Safer 
Communities

Levels of crime (Total Crime) County/district CCC/Cumbria 
Constabulary

Annual
2016/17

25,428 
51.1 per 1,000

74.6 per 
1,000

Levels of Anti-Social Behaviour County/district CCC/Cumbria 
Constabulary

Annual
2016/17

12,291
24.7 per 1,000

How safe do people feel? (check if still 
available)

County Cumbria 
Constabulary

Annual? TBC TBC

Place

Theme Indicator Geographic 
coverage

Source Further information Baseline England/ 
comparator

Healthy 
Planning
Sustainable 
Transport 
System

Journey Time statistics: access to services – 
public transport/walking

County/district DfT 2014 24 minutes 17 minutes

Journey Time statistics: access to services – 
cycling

County/district DfT 2014 19 minutes 14 minutes

Percentage of adults walking for travel at 
least 3 days per week

County Active Lives 
Survey/
Sport England

Annual
2016/17

18.1% 22.9%

Percentage of adults cycling for travel at 
least 3 days per week

County Active Lives 
Survey/
Sport England

Annual
2016/17

2.4% 3.3%

P
age  84



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

31

% of CCC maintained road incorporating 
cycle lanes

CCC

High quality 
and safe 
housing

Proportion of social and private housing in 
poor condition (Living Environment domain: 
housing in poor condition; houses without 
central heating)

IMD NOT regularly updated n/a n/a

Affordability of home ownership 
(Housing affordability)

County/district PHOF
(Paycheck)

Annual
2017

5.5 ratio 7.9 ratio

% Households in Fuel Poverty LSOA Gov.uk/DBEIS Annual
2016

12.2% 11.1%

Homelessness - eligible County/district Ministry of 
Housing, 
Communities & 
Local Government 

Quarterly – Jan-Mar 
18

44 Homelessn
ess - 
eligible

Access to 
healthy food

Healthy Foods – Density of fast food outlets District PHE Annual (not sure when 
it will be 
refreshed/updated)

Allerdale, 98 
outlets (100.9 
per 100,000 
population) 
Barrow-in-
Furness, 84 
(124.4 per 
100,000)
Carlisle, 105 
(96.9 per 
100,000)
Copeland, 69 
(99.6 per 
100,000)
Eden, 51 (96.9 
per 100,000)

P
age  85



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

32

South Lakeland, 
111 (106.9 per 
100,000)

Prosperity

Theme Indicator Geographic 
coverage

Source Further information Baseline England/ 
comparator

Fair and 
inclusive 
growth

Workless households (part of “Inclusive 
growth” indicators in LIS)

County/distric
t

Office for National 
Statistics

25,000 
(15.3%)

England 
14.0%

Reducing 
income 
inequalities

% low income households Cumbria/ 
district/ LSOA

CACI/CCC Annual
2018

11.9% 9.6%

A reduction in the claimant count rate 
(CPDP measure M3.2)

County/district ONS/CCC Monthly/Annual
September 2018

1.9% 2.2%

Key Stage 4 (GCSE) Attainment, Grades 4-9 - 
Disadvantaged 

County DfE/CCC Annual
2018 academic year

40.7%
(provisional)

44.4%

Key Stage 4 (GCSE) Attainment, Grades 4-9 – 
Disadvantage Gap (All pupils Cumbria/national 
non-disadvantaged difference)

County DfE/CCC Annual
2018 academic year

-31.2%
(provisional)

Outcomes for SEND (school support pupils) at 
Key Stage 2 achieving the expected standard in 
Reading, Writing and Mathematics to improve 
from 17.9% to be in line with national level 
(CPDP M2.5)

County/district CCC Annual
2018 academic year

22.6%
(provisional)

23.8%

P
age  86



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

33

Appendix 1: The Five Capitals Model

This strategy is built around the “five capitals” model proposed by Forum for the Future as a 
framework for sustainable systems. Broadly speaking this starts from a recognition that society is a 
sub-system of the broader ecosystem, and that the economy is a sub-system of society. At each of 
these levels there are different assets, collectively referred to as “capital”, that can be exploited 
and/or developed.

Natural capital, sometimes also referred to as environmental or ecological capital, is made up of all 
those natural resources and processes that people depend on. This includes obvious natural 
resources such as land, water, air, timber, and animals, but also natural processes such as the water 
cycle and climate regulation, sometimes referred to as “ecosystem services”. Natural capital is the 
basis of all other capitals. It can be utilised to support the development of other capitals – for 
example building things essentially turns natural capital into manufactured capital and financial 
capital – but it has to be utilised sustainably in order to ensure that people can have a good quality 
of life today, and to avoid damaging the prospects of future generations.

Most obviously, human capital encompasses people’s skills, knowledge and experience, the things 
they draw on every day in living and contributing to society. Less obviously it also includes people’s 
motivations, their capacity for things like empathy, passion and joy, and also their intellectual output 
such as art and other cultural expressions.

Social capital refers to the connections between people, and to the various groups, institutions and 
social norms that help to create, foster and regulate these connections. This can include informal 
social networks involving family and friends, voluntary and community organisations, and more 
formal institutions such as workplaces, trade unions, faith groups and governmental organisations. It 
also includes cultural norms – shared expectations about how society works – that are often 
unspoken but are critical to whether people trust each other and work well together.

Page  87



Public Health Strategy FINAL DRAFT 6 February 2019

34

The concept of manufactured capital is a broad one, encompassing for the purposes of this strategy 
any material goods or infrastructure that have an impact on people’s quality of life. Because of both 
its reliance and its impact on natural capital, it is critical that growing and improving manufactured 
capital is done in a way that is sustainable, minimising the use of natural resources and maximising 
the use of human skills and ingenuity.

Financial capital is essentially the amount of money available within the local economy, and is the 
form of capital most commonly considered and pursued as a goal of social and economic policy. At 
one level it is clearly critical for public health: within the normal range of experience, more affluent 
people are generally also more healthy, across almost all measures of health. However at a broader 
level financial capital has no intrinsic value: it plays an important role in enabling other forms of 
capital to be owned and traded, but it is only representative of these other forms of capital. Because 
of this, financial capital cannot grow sustainably without growth in the other forms of capital as well.

Interpreted for the purposes of a public health strategy, this model suggests that a community is 
healthy and sustainable when there is an appropriate stock of all five capitals. A key feature of this 
model is that it emphasises the importance of building all five capitals without degrading any of 
them. It sets a positive vision of building a better society in which everyone is able to maximise their 
potential for health and wellbeing. 

Page  88


	Agenda
	8 Pay and Pension Discretion Policy Statement (Annual Report) - Resources Portfolio Holder
	9 Cumbria Joint Public Health Strategy - Housing and Health Portfolio Holder
	TES19_19_CumbriaJointPublicHealthStrategy_Appendix1


